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A momentous day dawned on 21 March, 1990 with Namibians from 
all walks of life celebrating Independence across the country.  
The hopes and dreams of a new nation lay ahead... and a celebratory 
brew of Windhoek Lager quenched everyone’s thirst!
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President-elect Sam Nujoma taking the oath with Secretary-General 
of the United Nations Javier Perez De Cuellar at the historic swearing-
in ceremony on 21 March, 1990 in Namibia’s capital. This mural in 
Windhoek serves as a reminder of the Independence celebrations.
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President Sam Nujoma and Deputy Prime Minister 
Hendrik Witbooi at the ceremony culminating in the 
signing of the Namibian Constitution on 21 March, 1990.
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In 1920, Messrs Carl List (l) and Hermann Ohlthaver (r) acquired  
four local breweries and consolidated them to form the South West 
Breweries (SWB). At Independence in 1990, the name was changed 
to Namibia Breweries Limited, as we know it today.
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Board of Directors

Chairman and Executive Directors

Sven Thieme 
(Namibian)
Chairman 
Appointed in March 2002. 
Currently the executive  
chairman of the Ohlthaver & List 
Group (O&L) which he joined 
in 1998. He is a chartered 
accountant having previously 
worked for Deloitte in their 
audit practice in South Africa 
and Luxembourg. Outside the 
Group, Sven holds directorships 
in the Windhoek Country Club 
(chairman), DHN Drinks, Nabcoa 
(a wellfare organisation) and 
the Namibian Broadcasting 
Corporation (chairman).

Desmond van Jaarsveld 
(Namibian)
Managing Director
In August 2008 appointed as 
managing director. He previously 
served as managing director 
of Namibia Dairies which he 
had turned into a profit making 
company in one of the most 
challenging industries. From 
1999 to 2005 he served as 
Namibia Breweries’ group product 
development manager before 
his tenure in the dairy industry. 
He holds a Masters Degree in 
Science. He is a board member 
of the Namibian Manufacturers’ 
Association.

Bruce Kidner 
(British)
Finance Director
Joined Namibia Breweries in 
July 2008 as finance director.  
Prior to his current role, he 
held the position of finance 
director at the Guinness Ghana 
Breweries Group in Accra 
(Ghana) and has been with 
Diageo plc since 1997. He is a 
qualified chartered accountant 
with experience in Europe and 
Africa.

John Fitzgerald 
(South African)
Global Marketing Director 
Appointed at Namibia Breweries in July 
2009. Joined from brandhouse where 
he served as group portfolio manager 
for beer. He has over 15 years of senior 
marketing experience in the alcoholic 
beverage industry and a solid track 
record of building brands. John holds 
an Advanced Executive Programme 
(AEP) qualification through the UNISA 
Graduate School of Business.
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Non-Executive Directors

Ken Allan
Ken started his career with Imperial 
Tobacco as a graduate trainee in 1982, 
and has held senior sales and general 
management positions with Colgate-
Palmolive, The Boots Company, 
GlaxoSmithKline, and more recently with 
Diageo, where he currently holds the 
position of commercial director, Africa.

Tom de Man
Tom de Man was appointed as regional 
president, Africa and Middle East – 
Heineken International and a member 
of Heineken’s executive committee (also 
as Namibia Breweries’ non-executive 
director) in 2005. Prior to this, Tom held 
several senior positions in the Heineken 
Breweries Group ranging from group 
production director (Heineken Italy) in 1971 
to managing director sub-saharan Africa in 
2003. Tom holds a M.Sc. Food Technology 
degree from the Agricultural University 
Wageningen, in the Netherlands.

Nick Blazquez
Nick Blazquez has been with Diageo for 20 
years.  He was appointed managing director 
of Diageo Africa in 2004. Prior to that he led 
Diageo’s businesses in Asia and held various 
other senior positions in Great Britain. Nick 
is also the chairman of the Private Investors 
for Africa, a group of chief executives of 
multinational organisations with a presence in 
Africa. He was educated at the University of 
Aberdeen and went on to lecture and research 
at Bristol University, following receiving his 
Ph.D. there. 

Ernst Ender
Appointed as executive director in February 
1983, he took over the responsibility for the 
Company’s export business as director: 
developing markets in 2002. Prior to his 
appointment in 1983, he held the position of 
manager: marketing & sales. Mr Ender retired 
on 31 January 2008 but remains on the NBL 
Board as non-executive director as well as 
being appointed to the Ohlthaver & List Board 
in June 2008 as a non-executive director.

John Campbell
John Campbell has been finance director 
of brandhouse since November 2005. His 
career with Diageo plc spans seventeen 
years covering various finance roles, most 
recently as group planning and reporting 
director. John is a graduate in Mathematical 
Sciences, a qualified chartered accountant, 
and previously spent over four years with the 
London office of KMPG.

Hans-Bruno Gerdes
Hans-Bruno Gerdes (Habo) is managing 
partner of the attorneys firm Engling, Stritter 
& Partners in Windhoek. He is an associate 
of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
holds a B.Proc. degree from the University 
of Cape Town. He currently practices as 
commercial/corporate attorney and holds a 
number of directorships in both listed and 
unlisted companies and is actively involved 
in the organised legal profession in Namibia. 
Presently, he serves as a non-executive 
director on the board of Namibia Breweries 
and is chairman of its audit committee.



Namibia Breweries Limited Annual Report 2010

7

Peter Grüttemeyer 
Joined the Ohlthaver & List Group of 
Companies (O&L) in October 2003 as chief 
executive officer where he is responsible for 
formulating and executing strategy. He is a 
qualified chartered accountant and prior to 
joining O&L, he held the position of partner-
in-charge of the Deloitte Namibian practice.

Gerald Mahinda
Gerald Mahinda moved to South Africa 
as managing director of brandhouse, with 
effect from 1 July 2009 after successfully 
leading East Africa Breweries (EABL) for 
over ten years. He joined EABL as the 
group finance and strategy director in 
1999, a position he held until 2003. He 
rose to the position of group managing 
director in 2004, following a short tenure as 
strategy and change director of Guinness 
Nigeria plc.

Tjeripo Hijarunguru
He graduated from Long Island University 
(New York) completing his B.Sc. degree and 
subsequently his MBA. His career involved 
employment at Standard Bank Namibia, 
Transnamib Limited and the Namibia 
Development Corporation. He was appointed 
chairman and managing director of Agribank 
in 1997. He joined the Ohlthaver & List Group 
of Companies as a non-executive director in 
2002 and was appointed an executive director 
in 2004, whereafter he again assumed the 
position of non-executive on 1 November 
2009. He acted as non-executive director on 
the NBL Board from 1 September 2003.

Bernd Masche
A registered professional engineer in South 
Africa and Namibia, he joined Namibia 
Breweries (South West Breweries) in 
September 1968. He was appointed as 
managing director of the company in 
1982 and after having served 21 years in 
this position, retired in September 2003, 
whereafter he was appointed as non-
executive director in a consultancy capacity 
until October 2009.

Carl-Ludwig List
A born Namibian to Werner and Margarete 
List, raised in Midgard, schooled in 
Swakopmund, matriculated in Cape Town 
and completed his banking education in 
Germany in 1971 after visiting the University 
of Stellenbosch. After having devoted twenty 
years (1972-92) of his career to the Ohlthaver 
& List Group, he remains a dedicated director 
of the Group and Namibia Breweries to this 
date. 

Zooullis Mina
He joined Heineken International BV in 
1996 as financial director – Amstel Brewery 
Hungary and was appointed as Heineken 
International BV’s financial director – 
Africa and Middle East in July 2008. Mr. 
Mina’s current main duties are the overall 
responsibility for the finance and IT functions 
of Heineken in the African and Middle 
East Region. He is a qualified chartered 
accountant with a wealth of experience.



Namibia Breweries Limited Annual Report 2010

The Hansa Brewery in Swakopmund, shown above in 1947, was first 
opened in 1928. It was the home of Namibia’s Finest Tafel Lager, firstly 
serving the coastal communities and later, when it was incorporated 
into South West Breweries in 1967, Tafel Lager went nationwide.
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Senior Leadership Team

From left to right 
Gideon Shilongo, Desmond van Jaarsveld, Hans Bellekes, Anton Goosen, Bruce Kidner, John Fitzgerald,  
Abrie du Plooy, Terence Makari and Thomas Hochreiter.
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Through the 50’s and 60’s the brewery grew from strength to strength,  
producing exceptional beers from the old brewery in the Windhoek CBD.  
On the right is a stand for a show in Walvis Bay in the early 60’s. On the far right 
is a commemorative ‘50 Years’ Windhoek Lager can from 1970. 
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In the early 70’s, Windhoek Beer was already a welcome refreshment at 
the Windhoek Show. First held in 1899, the present-day showgrounds 
were established in 1934, and only since 1966 did it become an annual 
event called the Windhoek Industrial and Agricultural Show.
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On behalf of the board, it is my pleasure to provide you with an overview 
of the business performance for the 2010 financial year. Overall the 
business once more exceeded our expectations with a solid financial 
performance especially taking into account the start-up costs of our 
South African Business, the tremendous volume growth in Namibia in 
excess of 10%, the non-South African export growth of 16% and last but 
not least the very successful launches of the brand Windhoek Lager into 
Great Britain, Kenya, Uganda and Cameroon. In many instances it seems 
as if we are only at the beginning of many more and bigger successes.     
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Pioneering Spirit
As we celebrate 9 decades of brewing excellence at Namibia 
Breweries it is an opportune time to reflect on the early 
beginnings of our 90 years of history. Experiencing recently 
a desert tour from Lüderitzbucht to Walvis Bay with its 
emptiness, yet fullness, with its roughness and harshness, 
and yet beautiful and soft landscape and with many more 
contrasts, it becomes clear what type of pioneers and 
entrepreneurs have come to Namibia to firstly survive 
and overcome the desert and then to start a brewery on 
top of this. These founders were real pioneers and real 
entrepreneurs just like our real beer. To know this history, 
enables us to appreciate the legacy we have inherited. Over 
the past 8 years, we have applied the same pioneering and 
entrepreneurial spirit in primarily surviving the globalisation 
onslaught within the beverage industry, reinventing the way 
of doing business, implementing world-class processes and 
procedures and establishing a global brand strategy. Major 
investment has gone into our people who I see as passionate, 
down to earth and authentic. We have established sincere 
partnerships especially with Heineken and Diageo amongst 
others. All this provides an incredible platform from which the 
business can excel to the next level and which will make us 
proud for many years to come.

Operations 
The past financial year was a further year where we relentlessly 
executed our strategy and the business benefited from further 
operational effectiveness and efficiencies. This is in particular 
relevant to the heart of our business which is the brewing and 
bottling of beer. Major investments will be made to replace 
outdated equipment in this area using the opportunity to 
streamline our operations and obtain additional capacity 
which will be needed with the global expansion of Windhoek 
Lager. Continued focus is given to sales execution, which 
brought us the market share growth over the past years. Every 
initiative brings us closer to becoming a world-class operator, 
ensuring we stay ahead and thereby securing the future for 
our business. 

Leadership
We continued to entrench people development into our 
business processes and our interventions and investment in 
our people are reaping rewards. This is evident in the results 
which our business continues to deliver and we will continue 

with these interventions as I believe it becomes more critical to 
accelerate the development of our people.   

Corporate Governance
I am satisfied that the Board has discharged its responsibility 
to direct the business by owning the strategy, empowering the 
executive management team to execute it and holding them 
accountable for delivery. Against this background I am satisfied 
that the composition of our board and its sub-committees is 
appropriate. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all members for 
their valuable contributions they have made to the success of 
our business. 

Corporate Social Investments
Operating our business in a socially and environmentally 
responsible manner and earning trust are fundamental to 
our licence to operate and delivering long-term value to all 
our stakeholders. We continued to establish Responsible 
Consumption in our business and we launched two major 
campaigns: the Zero to Hero campaign and DRINKiQ 
programme to our employees and in part to our external 
stakeholders. We remain committed to lead the Alcohol-Self-
Regulation-Initiative in Namibia and actively participating in 
Botswana.

Appreciation
My final words go to my fellow directors, executive team and 
employees. I am thankful for their dedication and loyalty to 
Namibia Breweries. I am also appreciative of the support 
and partnership of our customers, consumers, and business 
associates.  I am looking forward to another great year during 
which we will deliver on our plans and strategies thereby 
generating continued shareholder value. 

Sven Thieme
Chairman
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Through tremendous growth of Windhoek Lager and Windhoek Export in the early 
80’s, the brewery in the Windhoek CBD soon became too limiting. The planning 
process was already underway to move operations to a new site in the Northern 
Industial Area.
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The 80’s saw numerous new developments, such as the introduction of the new 
‘Euro’ 500ml bottle, the buying out of South African Breweries’ stake in South 
West Breweries, and most significantly the move to the new state-of-the-art 
brewery in its current location in 1983.
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The year under review was another outstanding year for our business. 
The early part of the year saw a continuation of global economic 
uncertainty which also engulfed Namibia and our export markets. I am, 
however, pleased to report that the initiatives we put in place to sustain 
our business were effective. As the year progressed, varying degrees 
of confidence returned to the world markets. Against this background, 
Namibia Breweries delivered a solid performance, with an operating 
profit of N$314 million and revenues of N$1,687 million as a result of 
good volume growth in all our markets. In 2009, we made significant 
progress, delivering on and exceeding our stated targets. The focus on 
volume growth and brand health, protecting our margins and cash flows, 
proved to be the right approach during the year.

17
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During the last quarter of the year, we announced the launch 
of new export markets, as part of our global brewing and 
licensing agreement with Diageo. We launched our flagship 
brand, Windhoek Lager, in Cameroon, Kenya, Uganda, and 
the Great Britain. I am pleased to report that we have seen 
overall solid growth of the Windhoek trademark. Through 
our strategy of aggressively investing in brands which deliver 
positive long-term shareholder returns, we have developed 
a portfolio of world-class brands, including Windhoek Lager, 
Windhoek Draught and Tafel Lager. Our decision to continue 
focusing on our critical success factors: i.e. People, Drive 
Export Growth, Operational Excellence, Winning Portfolio 
and Demand Fulfilment, has put us in a position to capitalise 
on current and future economic growth opportunities in our 
chosen markets.

Strategic Focus Areas

People
Employee communication is an important foundation of 
our business. We embarked on the development and 
implementation of an Employee Engagement strategy with 
the aim of sustainably enhancing staff performance through 
improved engagement and living the values. During the 
period under review, the South African arm of Deloitte & 
Touche conducted the first official “Best Company To Work 
For” survey which, together with the previous years of virtual 
participation, has enabled us to identify and focus on areas  
requiring improvement on areas such as communication, 
leadership, training and development, rewards and recognition 
and operational excellence.

Following successful negotiations with the Namibia Food and 
Allied Workers Union (NAFAU), our business signed a two-year 
substantive agreement with the union, a process conducted 
in good faith and beneficial to both parties. Furthermore, in 
2009, the Mwenyopaleka (“rebirth”) programme continued to 
positively shape our organisational culture and the environment 
within which our employees interact. 

Drive Export Growth
Despite significant changes in our route to market, we 
exceeded our volume targets, with exports accounting for over 
60% of our total beer output. We continue to align processes 

and unlock synergies across Namibia Breweries, brandhouse, 
our distributors, agencies and in-market companies.  This, 
together with the recent cementing of the SADCCO (regional 
distribution agreement) and ROWCO (international distribution 
agreement) entities, will support further growth as the demand 
for our brands continues to grow. 

Operational Excellence
Furthermore, we made excellent progress in strengthening our 
world class corporate governance structure and entrenching a 
solid control and compliance culture throughout the business.

Our QDVP3 programme has and will continue to enjoy strategic 
focus as part of our ongoing drive for Sales Excellence 
to ensure we remain on top of our in-store execution and 
customer service. The monitoring and management of our 
downstream distribution costs continues to be a major focus 
in our business. We have a clear strategy of reducing both 
primary and secondary distribution costs to a comparable level 
against the South African benchmark. We have also created 
a dedicated project office team within our Supply division, 
a centre of excellence, to ensure projects as per our 5-year 
masterplan are executed in an optimal and timely manner.

As a licensed brewer of Heineken-owned brands, our 
business is subjected to further stringent evaluation criteria. 
Both our overall brewery and product quality scores improved 
substantially during recent surveys.  These improvements 
attest to the fact that we are on the right track with our current 
quality improvement initiatives and focus.

Winning Portfolio
Our brands maintained their exceptional performance during 
the annual Deutsche Landwirtschafts-Gesellschaft (DLG) 
awards. Windhoek Lager, Tafel Lager, Windhoek Light and 
Windhoek Draught all scooped Gold medals. Our Project 
Shape, which involved the complete substitution of our old 
750ml returnable bottle with new modern shaped bottles, was 
well received by our customers and consumers. As a consumer-
focussed business, we continue to invest in growing the equity 
of our brands. In 2010 the company again delivered excellent 
brand health results, confirming our consumers’ strengthened 
relationships with our brands showing our portfolio is fit for 
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growth. The introduction of Windhoek Draught in a 440ml 
bottle into the South African and Namibian markets was very 
well received. Based on the brand’s excellent growth of 36% 
since its launch in August 2009, Windhoek Draught is now 
well positioned to realise further untapped opportunities in 
these markets. NBL will continue to drive and invest into our 
innovation agenda as this is at the heart of our Company.

Demand Fulfilment
In 2009, we successfully opened the Ruhr Street depot 
(Northern Industrial area, Windhoek) which serves as an 
overflow warehouse for our main production site. To the 
Central Distribution Centre it provides a distribution hub for 
local deliveries as well as Call & Collect customers. During 
the period under review, we also achieved the successful 
introduction of the back office and logistics arrangements of 
the ROWCO and SADCCO initiatives aimed at supporting the 
movement of our brands to the rest of the world. Optimising 
plant capacity provided numerous challenges, however 
I am confident that our 5-year master plan will support our 
optimisation and demand fulfilment efforts.  With our strive to 
grow exports, we will continue to upgrade our technologies, 
brewing capacity, packaging, warehousing and human capital 
assets during 2010. As part of this drive, we have successfully 
licensed Sedibeng brewery in South Africa to brew and 
package Windhoek Lager, a historic moment as this was the 
first time our brand was brewed outside Namibia. This was 
possible through outstanding teamwork between our technical 
support team and our partners.

Enablers 
No company can be ranked as truly successful if it has 
an unsatisfactory safety record. As a result, our business 
tolerates no compromise to our Health & Safety environment, 
a key focus area for us and I am pleased to state that time 
lost to disabling incidents has decreased substantially. 
Namibia Breweries remains a leading member of the Self 
Regulating Alcohol Industry Forum (SAIF) and responsible 
consumption is at the heart of our stakeholder engagements. 
As such, we have contracted a 24/7 shuttle service for all our 
employees to make use of and to support our philosophy 
of responsible consumption, as part of our responsible 
drinking ambassadorship programme. The ongoing roll-out 
of DRINKiQ, our employee alcohol awareness campaign, has 

further embedded this culture in the business. When it comes 
to our environmental impact, we are seen as industry leaders 
with regards to our active clean-up campaigns, recycling 
initiatives, and community support such as education and 
sponsorships.  

Appreciation
On behalf of the board, I wish to sincerely thank our chairman, 
strategic partners, board members, the senior leadership 
team (SLT) and employees of Namibia Breweries and pay 
tribute to their dedication and loyalty. I am honoured to work 
with a strong leadership team and my passionate colleagues 
at NBL as this year’s result is testimony of their unwavering 
commitment.

Desmond van Jaarsveld
Managing Director
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The magnificent new brewing facility ensured the continued growth of Namibia Breweries’ 
brands throughout the country. And to distribute this, a fleet of new trucks were acquired. 
On the left is an official tree planting ceremony, the seedlings which have since grown into 
the beautiful trees which now grace the gardens of the brewery.
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Established on 29 October 1920, Namibia Breweries Limited 
(NBL) is one of the leading beverage manufacturing companies 
in Namibia and Southern Africa. 

In 2010, Namibia Breweries celebrates 90 years of brewing 
excellence while looking back at a proud Namibian heritage. In 
1920 the Kronen Brauerei (Swakopmund), Omaruru Brewery, 
Klein Windhoek Brewery and Felsenkeller Brewery (Windhoek) 
were acquired by Messrs Carl List and Hermann Ohlthaver 
who consolidated them to form the South West Breweries. 
Then, in 1967, it acquired the Hansa Brauerei in Swakopmund,  
South West Breweries became the only remaining  
independent commercial brewery in Southern Africa. With 
the Independence of Namibia in 1990, South West Breweries 
changed its name to Namibia Breweries Limited (NBL) - as we 
are still known today. 

Today, with the stated vision: To be the best company to 
work for, Namibia Breweries is the leader in the domestic 
beer market and has a significant share of the premium beer 
category in South Africa. The company’s total exports account 
for more than half of total production output. 

Brewed by choice according to the German purity law, the 
Reinheitsgebot of 1516, Windhoek Lager, Windhoek Light, 
Windhoek Draught and Tafel Lager enjoy the reputation of 
quality and purity for which the brands have earned international 
recognition, most recently by winning back to back gold medals 
during the prestigious Deutsche Landwirtschafts-Gesellschaft 
(DLG) Awards in 2010. 

The Ohlthaver & List Group of Companies in 2004 launched 
a new value system, Mwenyopaleka, which means rebirth in 
the local Oshiwambo vernacular. Mwenyopaleka embodies 
the Group’s collective commitment to challenge our historic 
and cultural past to improve the future for everyone. As a 
member of the Ohlthaver & List Group of Companies, Namibia 
Breweries Limited adopted the Mwenyopaleka values which 
aim to align the Group’s activities. 
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The 75th Anniversary of Namibia Breweries Limited in 1995 was another 
significant milestone in the history of the company. It was celebrated with 
a barrel of Windhoek Lager by, amongst others, the then Prime Minister of 
Namibia, Hon. Hage Geingob and the late Werner List.
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The new millennium heralded a new era in sales of NBL products with the breaking of the 
1 million hectolitre barrier. Seen here is the former managing director of Namibia Breweries, 
Bernd Masche celebrating this landmark achievement with the late Werner List and his 
wife Hildegard List.
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A world class facility such as Namibia Breweries needs constant monitoring and 
attention to detail. Shown here is the old control room with a multitude of dials, 
buttons and flashing lights. In stark contrast to this is the new, fully computerised 
digital control room above.
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We depend on all our stakeholders, for our persistent progress and 
growth. Contributing to our stakeholders, in whatever form, ensures our 
continued survival and prospects as a business entity and hence is an 
investment into our own future. 

25

The world is undergoing massive resettling of priorities, values 
and expectations.  For this reason, we continuously strive to 
understand what implications economic, environmental and 
social factors may have on our operations, both in our home, 
Namibia, and in the international markets we operate in.

Similarly, Namibia Breweries Limited (NBL) recognises its 
responsibility towards the world within which it operates, 
its shareholders, employees, stakeholders, and our natural 
surroundings. Accordingly, we consciously contribute to the 
Namibian economy, to society and the environment, while 
maintaining our sound corporate reputation and the conditions 
conducive to good business.

Our long-term strategic success depends on a mutually-
rewarding relationship with all stakeholders and our 
sustainability as a business hence depends of the achievement 
of such objectives. As a result, our sustainable development 
initiatives remain a key focus area, to ensure unrelenting 
increase in shareholder value.

Initiative Strategies

Our sustainable development initiatives are undertaken through 
detailed consultation with key stakeholders, both within the 
organisation and from outside, both locally and internationally. 
The board of directors and senior management understand 
that open and transparent dialogue is key in achieving NBL’s 
sustainability objectives and its future success. Although 
opinions vary and sometimes even conflict, we take all views 
into consideration when designing our approach and when 
prioritising our actions. Our Corporate Communications team 
co-ordinates appropriate engagement with each stakeholder 
group to address their views and concerns. 

Corporate Social Investment

As a responsible corporate citizen, we not only believe in giving 
back to the community that supports us, but also ensure that we 
conduct our business in a responsible manner. Apart from paying 
direct and indirect taxes to government, providing employment 

Sustainability Report
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and creating broad-based opportunities for other Namibian 
businesses, we also have a comprehensive Corporate Social 
Investment (CSI) programme which aims to make a significant 
contribution towards the society within which we operate. As 
the business continues to grow, so too has our contribution to 
society. During the year under review, NBL contributed over 1,5% 
of net profit after tax to corporate social investment initiatives.   

In terms of minimising the potential negative impact of our 
industry, NBL has two key focus areas, namely minimising 
the effects of our packaging material on the environment and 
combating the negative consequences of alcohol abuse. 

Enjoy responsibly 
We believe that our high quality products can be enjoyed 
as part of a healthy balanced lifestyle and therefore actively 
promote responsible drinking and alcohol harm reduction. 
To this end, we not only subscribe to an in-house Marketing 
Code of Conduct, but further support various targeted 
interventions aimed at raising awareness of the dangers of 
alcohol abuse, and educating at-risk groups so as to facilitate 
informed decision-making. While our products can and 
should be enjoyed responsibly, NBL is concerned about the 
segment of the community which abuses alcohol. Therefore, 
we engage in various corporate social investment activities 
where responsible consumption of alcoholic beverages 
is encouraged and alcohol abuse is discouraged. These 
initiatives and interventions include:

–  The “Too Young is Too Young” campaign, which was
launched in June 2007. This campaign encourages the
youth to embrace responsible thinking and refrain from
underage drinking, and has  been extended into schools
through the Drug Awareness Group (DAG), which has
been sponsored by NBL for almost two decades. DAG has
TADA (teenagers against drug and alcohol abuse) groups
in schools throughout Namibia, who educate and entertain
the youth, creating a culture where responsible thinking and
respect for the non-drinker is instilled.

–   Our “Think Ahead – Don’t Drink And Drive” campaign was
launched in 2009 and sees NBL working closely with other
road safety and law enforcement partners in reducing alcohol
related incidents.

–  NBL was a key player in the establishment of the Self-
regulating Alcohol Industry Forum (SAlF) in February 2007,
a body comprising major alcohol producers and distributors
in Namibia. SAlF members all voluntarily ascribe to a Code
of Conduct whereby they undertake to adhere to strict
standards of advertising, promotion, marketing and general
business practices. This also includes a mechanism for self-
regulation and action against non-compliant alcohol industry
players. SAIF successfully initiated a complaints handling
line in 2009. This industry body was partnered with the
Legal Assistance Centre to run a programme empowering
the community to combat underage drinking, as well as
sponsoring a TV “Drink Drive” awareness campaign. Similar
initiatives were undertaken through the Botswana Alcohol
Industry Association’s (BAIA) “Ke Shapo” campaign.

–  NBL is a founding and active member of the Coalition
on Responsible Drinking (CORD), which comprises of
Government, various non-governmental organisations,
church organisations and private sector companies, all of
which support the overall drive of promoting responsible
drinking and discouraging alcohol abuse and the problems
related thereto. CORD committees have been established
throughout Namibia and conduct need-based training with
community members and social workers.

–  The “Zero to Hero” campaign which was launched in 2009
to create responsible drinking ambassadors within the
company has seen more than 600 employees graduate
from the Diageo DRINKiQ  initiative. This campaign was then
further extended to 100 key external stakeholders during the
period under review.

The fight against cancer
According to the World Health Organisation report of 2002, 
cancer incidence in Africa is increasing steeply and was 
already estimated to account for 10% of deaths in developing 
countries.  In Namibia, skin cancer is the number one cancer, 
followed by breast, prostate and cervical cancers.  As cancer 
affects one in four Namibians, this is an area that has enjoyed 
longstanding NBL support. Since education and early 
detection are key in fighting cancer, NBL supports the Cancer 
Association of Namibia by sponsoring awareness campaigns 
and support services for cancer sufferers. 
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The “Spray your hair for cancer” and “Bandana day” projects 
are just a few of the various annual recurring initiatives 
organised by the Cancer Association of Namibia where NBL 
staff happily participate to make their contribution towards 
cancer awareness.

In addition to supporting the awareness campaigns of the 
Cancer Association, NBL also provides support on a monthly 
basis to the Dr. A.B. May Cancer Care Centre, the country’s 
only full cancer support facility. 

HIV/AIDS
The AIDS pandemic is a major threat to Namibia’s economy and 
threatens to derail all development efforts since independence.  
Our fight against the virus is not limited internally but reaches 
the broader audience nationwide. Not only do we provide our 
staff who are infected and affected by this virus, with care and 
support, but through our CSI programme, we also support 
various homes for Orphans and Vulnerable Children (OVC), 
who receive regular support from the company through the 
Dr. Christina Swart-Opperman Aids Orphan Foundation Trust.

The Namibian Ministry of Health and Social Services 
conservatively estimates that at least 66 000 children are 
orphaned as a result of HIV/AIDS in Namibia. It is for this reason 
that, in addition to our work-place HIV/AIDS programme, NBL 
works with various institutions to pay school fees and provide 
basics such as food and clothing for orphans and vulnerable 
children. NBL is a longstanding supporter of the Dr. Christina 
Swart-Opperman Aids Orphan Foundation Trust which assists 
1330 children’s homes and has benefited almost 9 000 
children since its inception in 2003.   

Other community investment initiatives
NBL believes that sustainable development initiatives are 
essential in ensuring our continued success and the well-being 
of future generations. We therefore conduct business in ways 
that meet and integrate existing environmental, economic and 
social needs, without compromising the future. 

In 1996, NBL became the first beverage company to list on 
the Namibian Stock Exchange (NSX).  In 2002 we became 
the main sponsor of the NSX Scholars Investment Challenge, 
a competition in which all schools can enter teams that trade 

with virtual shares on the NSX. Not only do the teams that 
grow their portfolio the most win great prizes, they also learn 
how the stock exchange works and gain practical insight into 
stock broking. This is but one of the projects supported by 
NBL in its endeavour to create responsible youth in the interest 
of a prosperous future for Namibia.

While the Namibian Government has instituted various 
initiatives to integrate people with disabilities into the broader 
society, this group of our community still requires further 
support to overcome their unique challenges.   It is for this 
reason that NBL supports people with disabilities, be it 
through the schools for the visually and hearing impaired, 
or by supporting the activities of the National Federation of 
People with Disabilities in Namibia. 

As part of our commitment towards the society within which 
we operate, NBL has a customer care centre in Katutura, 
Windhoek. The centre is used on a regular basis by our CSI 
partners, and is also available for social upliftment activities 
and events. The Namibia Shebeen Association (NASA), and 
two of our environmental partners, Collect-a-can and 4H 
Namibia are also housed at the Bonarora Customer Care 
Centre.  Depending on availability, other profit-making entities 
may also utilise the centre upon fulfilling certain conditions. 

Being a leading corporate citizen in a developing country, 
NBL prides itself in working with government towards the 
achievement of our Vision 2030 goals.  As such we support 
various development initiatives through projects such as the 
Scholars Investment Challenge, the Sam Nujoma Innovative 
Enterprise Development Awards and the Business Women’s 
Summit.  Our strategic partnership as a member of the 
Communal Farmers Consortium which facilitates agricultural 
shows throughout the country, helps to grow the contribution 
small communal farmers make to food security and poverty 
reduction in Namibia. 

Our Environment

NBL is a long-established company in Namibia and we place 
a high priority on our environmental responsibility. We use the 
latest technology in our production facilities to ensure efficient 
energy and water consumption and environmentally friendly 
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manufacturing practices, all of which are constantly reviewed, 
improved and upgraded.

As such, closely linked to NBL’s pollution policy is our support 
for the “Cleaner Production Initiative” of Namibia. Mindful of 
the potential dangers manufacturing industries could pose 
to the environment and the scarcity of production inputs, 
NBL continues to benchmark and measure its efficiencies 
on components such as water consumption, energy usage, 
productivity and packaging materials against similar breweries 
and will continue to look for improvements with the assistance 
of its strategic partners. The results of these exercises have 
shown that we are consistently among the top five breweries 
amid our peers in each of the key areas measured.

We continue to constantly monitor the effect our actions, 
decisions and our production processes in particular have 
on the environment. To complement our environmental 
protection drive, a Green Team was established to conduct 
research and continuously assess and drive our green 
initiatives, while at the same time raising awareness. Some 
of the green initiatives currently under investigation include 
a feasibility study on glass buyback centers, procuring 
bio-degradable products and environmentally friendly 
packaging. In addition, a Total Productive Manufacturing 
programme is in place in the Company that creates focus 
and awareness of efficiency and waste management. 
It facilitates the identification of waste and concurrently 
recommends appropriate corrective actions. 

Recycling
As a manufacturer, NBL is concerned about the impact of 
pollution on the environment and therefore employs cleaner 
production practices within, while engaging the community 
in environmental preservation and subscribing to the national 
philosophy of protecting the environment and natural heritage 
of Namibia’s people. 

The Company focus on environmental preservation through 
strategic partnerships has brought about a significant 
growth in  recycling volumes for both glass and cans from 
Namibia. Environmental projects such as Project Shine in 
the Erongo region, have encouraged other stakeholders and  
communities to become more active, extending the recycling 

footprint in Namibia and leading to the establishment of 
the Recycle Namibia Forum (RNF) in 2009, of which NBL 
is a founder member. The Recycle Namibia Forum not 
only assists with the transportation of recyclables where 
possible, sponsoring clean-up campaigns and environmental 
awareness activities, but has made recycling more  
accessible to the general public. One such project is the 
Schools Recycling Competition which saw 10 Windhoek 
based schools competitively recycle in return for cash prizes 
to the schools. After the success of the 2009 Schools 
Recycling Competition, the competition was extended to 
include 22 Windhoek schools and three Tsumeb schools in 
2010. NBL has also sponsored the Eco Media Awards since 
2008 to stimulate environmental reporting in Namibia.

As the largest domestic beer and one of the largest beverage 
producers, as well as being a major manufacturing site in 
Namibia, our production process results in a number of 
by-products and waste. Packaging materials such as 
glass, cans, paper, cartons and plastic are used to bring 
our product to our consumers in a manner that preserves 
its quality and integrity.  As a result, we have implemented 
various processes to limit waste and we consistently strive 
to improvise on transforming waste into secondary raw 
materials that can be used again.

More than 80% of our beer products sold in Namibia are 
delivered in returnable bottles, resulting in a considerable 
decrease in the waste from glass packaging. Through 
efficiency improvements and investment in packaging and 
increasing the return rates of bottles in the local market, our 
waste rates for returnable glass containers have decreased 
significantly from the last period. Waste created from the 
packaging process, such as glass, is disposed of by an 
accredited external waste disposal company which in turn 
utilises recycling companies to re-process the waste back 
into the value chain. By cutting waste requiring disposal, we 
reduce associated costs involved and the burden placed on 
the environment.

Natural by-products created during malt processing and 
fermentation are supplied to farmers for agricultural purposes 
such as cattle feed from spent grain, malt dust and broken 
malt kernels, as they contain valuable minerals and proteins.
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Water efficiencies
Water is an extremely valuable resource in Namibia and is 
also one of the principle raw materials in beer production. 
We therefore place great emphasis on the protection of water 
resources not only for our operations but also for our nation.
 
As a result, we have implemented numerous procedures to 
reduce water usage, recycle used water (for uses other than 
the production process) and avoid contamination. A unique 
wastewater treatment plant has been developed at our 
brewery and plans are in place to utilise the latest available 
technology for new capital expenditure and for modifications 
on the existing equipment and processes to further improve 
the quality of the discharge as well as to improve our water 
usage efficiencies. As water consumption goes hand in hand 
with our overall energy consumption, our water savings not 
only limit our impact on the environment but also decrease our 
cost of production. 

So far the results of our initiatives for the period 2006-2010 
have indicated an average usage of 4.8 units of water used per 
unit of beer produced and this is well in line with the industry 
average of 5 units per unit beer produced. The set target for 
the next 3 years is to achieve a water usage of 4.4 per unit of 
beer produced.  
  
Energy efficiencies and carbon footprint
As a model corporate citizen, NBL is acutely aware of the role 
it has to play in a world that is increasingly feeling the effects of 
climate change, a process that impacts all of us. We therefore 
continuously strive to minimise the effects our own operations 
have on climate change and carbon emissions.

Hence, as a key input cost and in consideration of our 
environment, we continuously strive to improve our energy 
usage and optimise energy efficiencies. We have improved our 
packaging and production efficiencies by approximately 10% 
from the previous comparative period, further contributing to 
the reduction of water and energy consumed. These efficiencies  
have been obtained, even though we have had significant 
expansion in production and volumes during the same timeframe 
and have put us in the top five companies in our benchmarking 
exercise.  From the period 2006 to 2010, we have achieved a 
decrease in electricity consumption of almost 18% per hectoliter 

of beer produced. For the same period, we had a decrease of 
15% per hectoliter on thermal energy consumption.

In addition to the above, we are currently investigating 
investment in new technology which will further reduce our 
high-furnace oil consumption, thereby resulting in the added 
benefit of further reducing Carbon Dioxide (CO2) emissions.  We 
have successfully completed a logistical layout project of our 
production site which significantly improved the efficiencies of 
vehicles and the flow of products on our premises.  In addition, 
all distribution vehicles have been fitted with tracking devices 
to optimize vehicle utilisation.

We continuously monitor our efficiencies and wastage  
quantifiers through regular audits to ensure that the emissions 
from our brewery are at an acceptable level. A significant  
amount of CO2 generated from the fermentation process is 
recovered, stored in tanks and re-used in the brewing process 
or sold off to outside parties. We have made considerable 
investment in recent years in the form of recovered and storage 
facilities to minimise any excessive CO2 emissions. 

Of all elements in the Total Value Chain, it’s the production 
of cans and bottles and other packaging, especially non-
returnable items that contribute the most to the worldwide 
Carbon Footprint. Besides the ongoing Carbon Footprint 
improvements in the brewery, we are in the process of 
identifying the major contributors in the logistics field in 
order to optimise the transport of packaging materials, 
malt, hops and other raw materials, as well as the further 
distribution of packaged final product. Brewery logistics 
and procurement together with our transport contractors 
are pro-active in these areas and we are confident that we 
can make significant improvements. Even though we are 
not producing packaging materials, our aim is to encourage 
our packaging material suppliers to share our view to be 
more aware of their Carbon Footprint. 

Our People

Our employees are our most valuable asset and NBL is 
dedicated to preventing harm to our people in whatever 
form and to create the best possible work environment and 
opportunities for our workforce.
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NBL’s people strategy continues to focus on four critical 
success factors, being Excellent Company Climate, Talent 
Management, Performance and Reward Management and 
Leadership Development.

Health and safety
At NBL, we are committed to providing a safe and healthy 
work environment through implementation of our Occupational 
Safety and Health policies and requirements. Our vision is to 
make and deliver our products and services, with zero work-
related injuries and illnesses on the part of our employees, 
contractors and other stakeholders.

We seek to continually improve our safety and health 
programmes and records. We believe visible, demonstrated 
leadership commitment and a strong health and safety culture 
are key drivers for this. Additionally we continue to monitor 
the safety performance of our operations through routine 
assessments against our own standards and requirements as 
well as applicable laws and regulations.

The health and safety of people working at NBL depends 
on a general “zero tolerance” policy, based on ensuring 
the reliability of installations, machinery, working practices, 
health monitoring, and investigation of all cases of incidents  
or accidents.  

Our principle measure of safety performance is in the number 
of accidents which have resulted in days lost from work.  
During this financial period we were able to reduce lost time 
incidents from a disabling incident frequency rate of 1.19 for 
200 000  hours worked for the same period last year to 0.09 
for this period ending June 2010.  Internal & external audits 
are conducted on a regular basis to indicate our level of legal 
compliance towards health and safety activities.

We demonstrate our commitment to employee health, not 
only by reporting on injuries and illnesses resulting in lost time, 
but also by reporting on employee physical fitness levels. 

A voluntary testing and counselling  session was held in 2009 
to determine cholesterol levels, blood pressure and obesity 
among our employees. Wellness programmes include general 
awareness sessions on topics such as healthy eating, stress, 

mental health, heart disease, cancer and HIV/Aids.  On site 
nutritional and health sessions have been completed on 
employees, peer educators as well as persons responsible for 
the preparation of meals on site.

Annual medical examinations are conducted to monitor 
specific hazards our employees are exposed to in the work-
place. Similarly, we regard the safety of contractors working 
on our site as being of vital importance.  We have successfully 
developed and implemented the “Permit to Work” system 
including all contractors working on site as well as minimum 
contractors’ requirements towards safety, to ensure adherence 
to NBL’s health and safety policies as well as local legislation.

Safety induction, continuous awareness and training for 
employees, contractors and visitors alike are therefore essential 
means of ensuring compliance with this policy and these are 
undertaken throughout.

Excellent company climate
Working towards our aim of being “The Most Inspiring 
Company to be with” and our stated objective to participate 
in the Best Company To Work For (BCTWF) survey which is 
offered by an independent professional services firm, we have 
made significant progress in closing gaps identified during the 
virtual participations and have moved our actual participation 
in the survey one year forward as a result of the progress 
made in improving the Company climate. The objective of 
this participation is to benchmark our human capital policies 
and practices with other companies within the SADC Region, 
identify gaps in our practices, if any, and then work on closing 
those gaps, in order to motivate our employees and enhance 
the employer value proposition. 

Managing talent
Developing and growing our own and the nation’s talent 
remain a critical human capital initiative for NBL. Our talent 
management key focus areas include talent attraction  
and development, up-skilling and succession planning.

We continued to invest in people through various training 
opportunities afforded to employees, granting of study loans, 
internship opportunities and the allocation of scholarships 
through our bursary scheme. Further, as part of our talent 
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attraction and acquisition strategy, we broadened our 
relationships with local and regional tertiary institutions in 
order to provide top students opportunities to gain practical 
experience and for NBL to acquire talented graduates. NBL 
has well-defined succession policies and retention strategies 
in place with aggressive development programmes to ensure 
we retain a high-quality workforce. Similarly the performance 
management process is continuously improved to ensure 
that employees are measured on robust key performance 
indicators that will deliver the Company’s operating and 
financial targets. 

Leadership development
As part of leadership development, GAP International, an 
American based Consultancy was used again during the year 
to enhance the leadership competencies of the Middle and 
Senior Leadership Teams, through their Breakthrough Intensive 
programme as well as Leadership Diagnostics. Some valuable 
leadership skills and tools, which will contribute significantly 
to the realisation of our business strategy, were acquired at 
these sessions.

Training our people
The NBL Capacity Development programme remained 
central to our human capital strategy with the main focus 
being on ensuring that our employees continue to meet the 
ever-changing technological and customer demands. During 
the year in review, our activities ranged from generic training 
interventions, specialist technical and brewer’s training, 
leadership competency training right through to functional 
specialist training for support function personnel. Training 
spend has increased with 22,7% compared to the prior 
year and we remain committed to increase training initiatives  
in realising our skills development strategy. 

Equality at the workplace
Employment Equity remains a key enabler towards driving 
and delivering meaningful transformation within NBL and 
continues to be accorded the required focus by the senior 
leadership team. In compliance with the Affirmative Action 
Employment Act (Act 29 of 1998) NBL successfully met the 
set numerical goals of its previous three-year plan. The new 
three-year plan’s main objective is on increasing the number 
of designated group members in leadership positions as well 

as making the physical work environment more conducive for 
persons with disabilities.  NBL submitted its annual progress 
report in compliance with the requirements of the Affirmative 
Action Employment Act (Act 29 of 1998). The three year 
affirmative action (2007-2009) plan is well on course and 
NBL will meet its set numerical goals and other objectives 
outlined in that plan. The current statistics of our workforce 
are summarised as follows:

Designated group employees 86,4%

Of which previously disadvantaged  
employees  82,4%

Female employees in the workplace 16,3%

Leadership positions represented  
by female employees  22,1%

Persons with disabilities in the workplace 0,7%

Non-Namibians in the workplace 3,9%

Talking to our people
Employee communication and consultations are critical 
success factors for the realisation of our strategic initiatives. 
Employee communications has continued through various 
platforms such as Open and Workplace forum meetings, 
MD’s road shows, management/shop steward and 
the affirmative action consultative committee meetings 
and supported by our internal newsletter “On Tap” and 
other targeted memoranda. NBL continued to drive the 
Mwenyopaleka value programme through various initiatives 
such as the “Value Star” programme, fun days and the 
monthly communication DVD’s.  A dedicated internal 
communications resources is being set-up to further 
enhance existing communications within the company.

Stakeholder Communication  
and Relationships

At NBL, we believe that we will achieve best results when 
we work co-operatively with our stakeholders to share 
ideas, perspectives and solutions to common issues.  
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By working together to develop joint solutions, we benefit 
from the knowledge and expertise of others. Similarly, we 
build a solid basis for long-term relationships which help our 
stakeholders socially, economically and environmentally.

Against this background, NBL conducted its first ever 
reputation survey. The survey aimed to measure the perception 
of NBL’s emotional appeal, products and services, financial 
performance, vision and leadership, workplace environment, 
and social responsibility. Overall, the survey highlighted that 
NBL has a strong reputation across all stakeholder groups. 
While seeking to analyse how these work together to create 
reputation, it moreover aimed to find relative strengths and 
weaknesses. All this data put together forms the basis in the 
formulation of our Corporate Communication strategy for the 
next period. The strategy aims to build our business’ reputation 
and define its key priority areas. 

We believe that no company can become truly great without 
engaged employees. In pursuit of attaining performance 
improvements and building excellent relationships amongst 
employees, we initiated a process aimed at formulating an 
Employee Engagement strategy for our business. While 
synergistic with other internal functions, the strategy will 
concentrate around key employee engagement drivers: good 
internal communication; vertical and horizontal relationships; 
knowing and believing in vision, mission and living the values; 
and enhancing overall job satisfaction levels. 

Another significant initiative was the implementation of regular 
media events aimed at creating an interactive platform to 
interact with the country’s leading media institutions. Our 
commitment to building excellent media relations is at the 
centre of our external Corporate Communication activities. 

We also launched a brewery tours programme. Over 700 
visitors comprising tourists, business partners, media, 
government officials and foreign dignitaries have visited 
NBL during the period under review. Furthermore, we had 
the pleasure of hosting members of the Epia Empowerment 
Group. Epia was established in 2001 under the guidance 
of the Head of State at the time and Founding President. 
The objective was to create a sustainable source of income 
that would help in the implementation of community-specific 

development initiatives and help secure long-term political 
stability in those communities. The purpose was to showcase 
our business’ brewing tradition and heritage thereby creating 
a sense of pride amongst Epia members in the business 
activities of Ohlthaver & List and its affiliated companies. 

All these initiatives in combination have led to a new sense 
of communicating with our stakeholders and the manner in 
which we engage our stakeholders.

Stakeholder relationship performance 
indicators 
We recently engaged an independent external survey 
company to measure the packaging quality of our premium 
brands in the South African market place.  By monitoring the 
adherence of set requirements, these audits help to meet 
consumer expectations, thereby preserving the integrity 
and consistency of our brand. The packaging quality score 
is determined by evaluating various extrinsic packaging 
attributes such as secondary packaging damages, caused 
by production and transport handling. We have initiated 
several improvement initiatives in the last year to reduce and 
prevent packaging damage thus improving the quality of 
our end product. During production additional controls and 
checks (such as equipment control, line control to prevent 
transfer pressure on the bottles, additional final packaging 
checks, etc.) were introduced. Various initiatives in the 
distribution process were also implemented to improve the 
packaging quality including improved strapping and loading 
practices. Furthermore, in-house training was conducted 
to enhance staff awareness on “Good Transport Handling 
Practices”. The outcome of these initiatives is reflected in 
the good performance during the last year with a highly 
satisfactory 100% survey score achieved in the third quarter 
of 2010 for both Windhoek Lager and Heineken brands, 
thereby highlighting that the appearance and perception of 
our products in the market remains at premium quality.

Hunt is on for NBL Namibian Ambassador 
The NBL Namibian Ambassador programme was launched in 
June 2010. This programme links into NBL’s “2090 campaign” 
which aims to celebrate Namibia’s 20 years Independence 
anniversary and NBL’s 90 years of brewing excellence.  
The aim of the programme is to celebrate Namibians who 
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have received international recognition for our country.  
Under consideration are achievements in the area of 
academia, sports, entertainment, entrepreneurship and 
service to humanity.

Our Award-winning Brands and our 
Passion for Excellence

The Reinheitsgebot standard
We take great pride in brewing according to the Reinheitsgebot 
and to consign ourselves to generations of passionate brewers 
who follow the strict regulations of this purity law, which is in 
existence since 1516.

Today it is widely known in Namibia and in our other markets 
that our beer is only brewed according to the Reinheitsgebot, 
which warrants the exact selection of raw materials.

To comply with the Reinheitsgebot, only the following three 
natural ingredients may be used to brew beer:
-  Malted barley (Malz) which gives the beer its colour contributes

to the taste and provides nutrients for the yeast during
fermentation.

-  Hops (Hopfen) which gives the beer its distinctive, fresh and
bitter flavour and acts as a natural preservative.

-   Water which brings it all together.

All raw materials used in the brewing process are carefully 
sourced from well selected approved suppliers that have to 
comply with the highest quality standards.

The hops that we source are grown in the heart of Bavaria in 
the Hallertau. Only selected varieties offer the distinct aroma 
that is associated with our brands. Similarly, our barley is 
procured from traditional growing areas, emphasising its  
high value.

Regardless if we brew Lager, Draught, Light or Urbock beer, 
only constant quality and excellence will guarantee the long-
term success of our beers in the market.

At NBL, we are extremely proud that we uphold this tradition 
established in 1516 and brew according to the Reinheitsgebot.  
We believe that this is the only way to brew a pure beer. It is not 
an easy task, but NBL chooses not to compromise on quality. 

The home of pure beer  
Our emphasis on quality has resulted in numerous awards for 
our beer brands, notably our most recent achievements:
-  NBL Limited - Recipient of DLG “Award for the Best 2009’’

in bronze for sustainable quality (Darmstadt), awarded only
after 5 years of sustained quality.

-  Windhoek Lager - Winner of the Gold Medal at the 2005,
2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 International DLG Awards
in Berlin.

-  Windhoek Light - Winner of the Gold Medal at the 2005
Brewing Industry International Awards in Munich and winner
of the Gold Medal at the 2010 International DLG Awards in
Berlin.

-  Windhoek Draught - Winner of the Gold Medal at the 2005,
2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 International DLG Awards
in Berlin.

-   Tafel Lager - Winner of the Gold Medal at the 2007, 2008,
2009 and 2010 International DLG Awards in Berlin, as well
as the Gold Medal at the 2008 European Beer Star Awards.

The DLG Awards (Deutsche Landwirtschafts-Gesellschaft), 
held in Berlin since 1885, are one of the most prestigious 
awards in the international food and beverage sectors.

Quality to our consumers
Consumer confidence in our brands is of paramount 
importance to us and is an integral part to the sustainability of 
our business. NBL believes in good quality beer and does not 
compromise on this aspect, thereby enhancing brand loyalty 
among our consumers. 

NBL is now entering into another period of glorious 
performance and since its inception in 1920, we have 
continuously improved and are still producing top quality 
beer brands, which are exported worldwide. The alcoholic 
beverage industry is flourishing very rapidly with many new 
innovations over the last years including ready-to-drink, 
alcohol pops and premixes, products that NBL is now proud 
to have included in its portfolio. These new products bring 
with them not only tighter competition, but are also placing 
greater demands on quality and the necessary technology 
within the industry. 

To meet these quality and innovation challenges, we have 
implemented an ISO 9001 Quality Management System 
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in 1998, having successfully maintained the system since 
then. Furthermore, we have implemented, maintain and 
comply with the South African Hazard Analysis and Critical 
Control Points (HACCP) food safety standard SANS 
10330:2007. With our sophisticated Quality Management 
& Food Safety System in place, we aim to ensure that the 
highest standards of quality are maintained, monitored 
and continuously improved on. Product and Process 
Performance are continuously measured against set 
stringent standards. Every step of the brewing process 
is strictly controlled throughout the supply chain and 
quality checks are performed at defined intervals in 
the process to ensure all products meet our rigorous 
specifications. On a yearly frequency NBL is audited by an 
external accredited body to ensure compliance with these 
international standards, which not only meet our own high 
quality expectations, but also those of our partners, our 
consumers and all our other stakeholders. This again is 
aligned with our vision for striving towards world-class 
manufacturing.

Marketing our products
Our promotions, advertising and marketing activities assist 
us in informing our consumers of the choices available to 
them and to compete for market share. 

Being a consumer focused organisation, our new product 
development as well as renovation of existing brands is 
driven by demand from and needs of our consumers. 
As a result, we continually strive to stay up to date with 
consumer trends in order to provide an expanded choice 
which delivers value to all our stakeholders. 

Furthermore, through our international partnership we 
are able to give our consumers options that include 
international brands.  

In addition, we have a self-regulating best practice 
Marketing Code in place which has strict standards on 
responsibilities that deal with our marketing activities and 
communications with consumers. Refresher training is 
given to employees and our partner agencies to ensure 
that our communication and activities are delivered in 
accordance with our marketing policies.
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Through stringent quality controls in using only the highest quality ingredients, 
brewing in strict accordance to the Reinheitsgebot purity law and right 
through to the final bottling and packaging, all Namibia Breweries beers have 
become synonymous with exceptional quality.
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Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee is a formal sub-committee of 
the board of directors and has as its objectives: 

-  To ensure and make recommendation in this regard, that the
Company’s executive directors and senior executive officers
are fairly rewarded with regard to individual contributions to
the Company’s overall performance.

-   To ensure that the remuneration of directors and senior
officials of the Company is determined by committee
members who have no personal interest in the outcome of
their decisions and who will take due regard of the interests
of the shareholders and the financial and commercial health
of the Company.

Composed of non-executive directors, this committee meets 
at least annually and decides the remuneration of executive 
directors and senior executives.

This report and its recommendation have been prepared by 
the Remuneration Committee and have been approved by the 
Board. 

Composition of the committee
For the year ended on 30 June 2010, the following non-
executive directors were members of the committee: 
-   Mr. Nick Blazquez (chairman),
-  Mr. Tom de Man, and
-  Mr. Tjeripo Hijarunguru

The chairman, managing director and divisional manager 
for human capital are also invited to meetings in an advisory 
capacity, except where their own remuneration is discussed. 
Independent remuneration consultancies are from time to 
time instructed to provide advice on executive remuneration 
matters to the committee. 

The committee met twice during the year and their attendance 
is set out on page 45 in the corporate governance report. The 
committee’s responsibilities are set out in its terms of reference 
which have been approved by the Board. These include:
-  Reviewing the chairman’s fees
-  Recommending executive remuneration policies to the

Board
-  Reviewing and determining the remuneration packages of

executive directors
-   Reviewing and agreeing the remuneration strategy and

conditions of employment for the senior leadership team
other than executive directors

-  Monitoring the suitability and effectiveness of the executive
remuneration and practices

Review of the company’s  
remuneration policies
Namibia Breweries Limited designed an executive remuneration 
policy to support its business goals by enabling it to attract, 
acquire, retain and appropriately reward executives of the calibre 
necessary to deliver the necessary high levels of performance.  
This policy is reviewed periodically to take account of changing 
market, industry and economic circumstances. The main 
principles of the Company’s executive remuneration policy 
are:
-  To provide total remuneration which is competitive in structure

and quantum with comparator companies’ practices within
the SADC region;

-  To achieve clear alignment between total remuneration  and
delivered business and personal performance;

-   To link variable elements of remuneration to the achievement
of challenging performance criteria that are consistent with
the best interest of the company;

-  To provide an appropriate balance of fixed and variable
remuneration; and

-  To provide internal equity between executives and facilitate
the movement of executives within the Ohlthaver & List
Group.

Remuneration Report
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Directors’ emoluments
Details of directors’ emoluments have been audited by KPMG 
and are disclosed in Annexure D of the financial statements.

Remuneration Components

Base salary
Base salaries are reviewed annually and adjusted as 
necessary at the beginning of the financial year, taking into 
account external market trends, business and personal 
performance.

Short-term incentive (STI)
An annual short-term incentive (STI) plan is in place and 
executive directors, the senior leadership team members and 
all employees above grade 6A participate in this scheme. 
The STI is a cash bonus plan designed to support the overall 
remuneration policy by: 
-  focusing participants on achieving financial year performance 

goals which contribute to sustainable shareholder value; 
and 

-  providing significant bonus differential based on performance 
against pre-determined company financial targets, strategic 
and divisional or personal performance objectives.  

The executive directors and senior leadership members may 
earn a bonus up to 41,67% of their total annual package.  The 
senior leadership team’s divisional targets are based on their 
respective critical success factors and include both financial 
and non-financial targets. Financial targets comprise 50% of 
the STI bonus potential, while strategic and divisional/personal 
targets including the leadership competency assessments 
make up the remaining 50%. 

The Remuneration Committee reviews the performance of the 
executive directors and the senior leadership team every year 
and approves individual performance against relevant targets 
and objectives annually. 

Long-term incentive (LTI)
The Company did not have a long-term incentive (LTI) plan 
in place for the year in review. However, the Committee has 
during the year under review, with specific terms of reference, 
tasked the managing director and the human capital manager 
to put a proposal for their consideration and approval before 
the end of the third quarter of the next financial. The LTI plan 
will, subject to approval, become operational by July 2011.  
It has been resolved by the committee that the LTI plan should 
be a cash-based long-term incentive plan which establishes 
individual Base Award Opportunities related to the achievement 
of the company’s performance over specified (3-5 years) 
performance periods.

Other objectives to be achieved with the implementation of 
the plan are:
-  To link executive compensation to specific long-term 

profitability and business goals;
-  To provide and enhance the existing competitive reward 

structure for executive directors, senior leadership team 
members and other key employees;

-  To provide a vehicle for closer board involvement and 
communication with leadership teams regarding the 
company’s long-term strategic plans;

-  To attract, acquire and retain the right skills for the business 
and motivate exceptional performance from these skilled 
staff;

-  To promote loyalty and dedication to the company and its 
objectives.

Progress reports are submitted to the Committee and 
the Company is on course to have this in place by the set 
deadline.
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Having recorded tremendous growth in the late 90’s, Tafel Lager - also fondly known as 
‘Namibia’s Finest’ - is still the biggest selling mainstream brand in Namibia and continues to 
win international accolades for its smooth superior taste.
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Executive Directors 
DE van Jaarsveld
Managing Director. Appointed to the board as managing  
director on 1 August 2008.

BA Kidner **
Financial Director. Appointed to the Board as financial  
director on 18 July 2008.

JG Fritzgerald ******
Global Marketing Director. Appointed to the Board as  
global marketing director on 1 July 2009.

Committees
Audit Committee
H-B Gerdes – Chairman

JJ Campbelll and Z Mina

Remuneration Committee 
NB Blazquez – Chairman 

TA De Man and TZM Hijarunguru 

Administration 
Company Registration Number 
2/1920 (Incorporated in Namibia) 

1979/001528/10 (Externally Registered in South Africa) 

Secretaries 
Ohlthaver and List Centre (Proprietary) Limited 

7th Floor Alexander Forbes Haus, 23 - 33 Fidel Castro Street 

P.O. Box 16, Windhoek, Namibia. 

Auditors 
KPMG, Namibia. P.O. Box 86863, Eros, Windhoek, Namibia 

Sponsor 
Investment House Namibia (Proprietary) Limited 

P.O. Box 196, Windhoek, Namibia 

Transfer Secretaries 
Transfer Secretaries (Proprietary) Limited 

P.O. Box 2401, Windhoek, Namibia 

Principal Bankers 
First National Bank of Namibia Limited 

P.O. Box 285, Windhoek, Namibia 

Attorneys 
Engling, Stritter & Partners 

P.O. Box 43, Windhoek, Namibia 

Non-Executive Directors 
G Mahinda *****
Director.  Appointed to the Board on 1 July 2009.

Z Mina ***
Director. Appointed to the Board on 1 November 2008.

E Ender *
Director. Joined the Group in 1975.  
Appointed to the Board 1 February 1983.  
Changed to non-executive on 31 January 2008.

S Thieme 
Chairman. Appointed to the Board in March 2002.  
Elected Chairman of the Board on 11 July 2002. 

NB Blazquez **
Director.  Appointed to the Board on 2 September 2004.

TA de Man ****
Director.  Appointed to the Board on 23 July 2003. 

H-B Gerdes
Director. Appointed to the Board on 28 July 2000.

P Grüttemeyer 
Director. Appointed to the Board on 3 June 2004. 

TZM Hijarunguru 
Director.  Appointed to the Board on 1 September 2003. 

C-L List
Director. Appointed to the Board in 1979.

JJ CampbeII **
Alternate Director to G Mahinda. Appointed on 2 December 2005. 

BHW Masche 
Director. Joined the Group in 1968.  
Appointed to the Board in 1979. Resigned as managing director  
on 1 September 2003, but remains as non-executive director.

KR Allan **
Alternate Director to N Blazquez. Appointed to the Board on  
1 September 2010.

* German **** Dutch 
** British ***** Kenyan 
*** Cypriot ****** South African
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Namibia Breweries is home to a star-studded cast of exceptional award-winning beers, which 
are now enjoyed in more than 27 countries around the world. With a range including Tafel 
Lager, Windhoek Lager, Windhoek Draught and Windhoek Light which consistently scoop 
International awards, the future of NBL brands looks very bright indeed.
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Compliance statement
Namibia Breweries Limited (NBL) is committed to strong ethical 
values and professionalism in all its activities. As an integral 
part of this commitment, the board of directors and the senior 
leadership team support the highest standards of corporate 
governance, corporate responsibility, risk management and 
remain committed to the principles of transparency, integrity 
and accountability in directing and controlling the business.

As well as being subject to Namibian legislation and practice, 
NBL, as a company listed on the Namibian Stock Exchange 
(NSX) is subject to the listing requirements and rules of the 
NSX, including complying with the King II Report of Corporate 
Governance. NBL remains committed to compliance with 
these laws and guidelines. Furthermore, in the spirit of good 
corporate governance, NBL is dedicated to compliance with 
the newly issued King III Report on Corporate Governance, 
although this not being a statutory or regulatory requirement in 
Namibia. NBL has undertaken an assessment of its compliance 
with King III which indicated that we have complied throughout 
the year with the principles contained in the King II and King III 
codes, save in respect of the following:
– Independence of directors
– Implementation of a nominations committee

The Board is currently in the process of assessing the findings 
and recommendations of this report.

The Board has adopted a Code of Business Conduct which 
applies throughout the Company and sets out clear principles 
for the conduct of the Company’s business activities. The code 

sets out NBL’s expectations of its businesses and employees 
in relation to issues such as conflict of interest, entertainment 
and gifts, confidentiality and improper payments, as well as 
providing the standards against which these expectations are 
to be met. 

In addition, the code covers our competitive behaviour, in line 
with the Namibian Competition Act. The code gives guidance 
on dealings with competitors, customers, distributors and other 
third parties, as well as the treatment of competitor information. 
These guidelines ensure that we act in a fair and ethical manner 
when engaging our competition in the market place.

The key elements of the code are monitored by the directors 
and management. The directors believe the Company has 
robust compliance systems and procedures in place in relation 
to the Code. 

The NBL Marketing Code establishes the principles that 
NBL follows in relation to advertising and promotions of its 
products.

The directors are not aware of any non-compliance to these 
codes.

Board of directors 
The board of directors maintain full and effective control over 
the affairs of the Company. 

The Board has a clear understanding of the key aspects, 
business strategies and objectives, priorities, focus areas 
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for monitoring performance and accountability of the senior 
leadership team. The directors are committed to the principles 
of fairness, accountability, responsibly and transparency. Three 
executive and thirteen non-executive directors collectively 
determine all major strategies and policies.  

The Board approves the Company’s business plan and 
monitors overall performance against objectives appropriate 
to the current stage of the business cycle and the prospects 
of the business. 

In addition to those powers conferred on it by the articles 
of association, the Board has reserved to itself the following 
matters:  
–  To provide entrepreneurial leadership and give strategic

direction to the Company;
–  To appoint the chief executive officer (managing director)

and ensure proper succession planning for senior
management;

–   To retain full and effective control of the Company and
to monitor the implementation by management of Board
plans and strategies;

–  To monitor financial reporting and controls and
implementation of Company policies;

–   To oversee major capital expenditure, acquisitions and
disposals;

–  To ensure compliance with relevant laws, regulations and
the Company’s Code of Business Conduct;

–  To ensure the Company operates within a framework of
robust corporate governance and ethical behaviour;

–   To define levels of materiality, reserve specific powers and
delegate others with authority;

–  To identify and monitor key risk areas and key performance
indicators and to accept full responsibility to ensure the
integrity of the risk management process and internal
controls in the Company;

–   To communicate with shareholders and all relevant
stakeholders openly and promptly; and

–   To identify, monitor and report on relevant non-financial
matters.

With the challenging economic and competitive environment, 
the Board has focused much of its attention on the identification, 
measurement and mitigation of risks facing the Company. The 

Board has reacted to developments and provided leadership 
to management, supporting some difficult decisions that had 
to be made during the year. There has been constructive 
challenges in the boardroom and discussions on the  
short-term performance and longer-term strategic objectives. 
Key areas of focus have been the need to manage risk and 
fulfill their obligations to shareholders through their oversight 
and challenge to management, to protect the Company’s 
assets and to ensure that the Company operates within a 
framework of robust corporate governance and ethical 
behaviour.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
One of the key aspects of NBL’s governance philosophy is the 
division of responsibility between the chairman of the board of 
directors and the chief executive officer (managing director).

The Board has delegated to the managing director and other 
executive directors the authority to manage the day-to-day 
affairs of the Company and the executive responsibility for 
running the business, with no individual having unfettered 
power of decision. Accordingly the roles of chairman and 
managing director are separated.

The principle responsibilities of the chairman include to:
–  lead the Board, ensuring effectiveness and setting their

agenda;
–  ensuring all directors are fully informed of matters sufficient

to make informed judgments;
–  ensure the highest standards of corporate governance;
–  ensure the Board sets a clear and appropriate strategy for

the Company; and
–  ensure effective communication with shareholders and other

stakeholders.

The principle responsibilities of the managing director  
include to:
–  lead the business;
–  lead the senior leadership team and management;
–  implement the strategy agreed by the Board;
–  ensure the Company has effective processes and controls

in place; and
–   ensure the Board receives accurate, timely and clear

information about the Company’s performance
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Changes to the Board 
1.  G Mahinda was appointed to the Board on 1 July 2009 as

a non-executive director.
2.  J Fitzgerald was appointed to the Board on 1 July 2009 as

global marketing director.
3.  KR Allan was appointed to the Board on 1 September 2010

as a non-executive director.

Board committees and senior management
Senior Leadership Team
The Senior Leadership Team (SLT), appointed and chaired by 
the managing director, consists of the individuals responsible 
for the key components of the business:
–  Supply;
–  Sales;
–  Distribution;
–  Marketing;
–  Human Capital;
–  Exports and Global Partnerships;
–  Finance; and
–  Corporate Affairs.

Responsibility and authority (within the financial limits set by 
the Board) are delegated by the managing director to individual 
members of the SLT who are accountable to him for the 
performance of their business units. The SLT meets regularly 
to discuss strategy, people, performance, risks, governance 
and to discuss operational issues facing the Company.

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee comprises of non-executives directors 
only and is established in terms of a charter approved by the 
board of directors. The committee consists of three members 
and attendance at meetings was as follows:

Audit Committee 
Members  (3 meetings held)
H-B Gerdes (chairman) 3
Z Mina 3
J Campbell 1

The Audit Committee assists the Board in observing its 
responsibility for ensuring reliable and accurate information 
regarding its financial affairs and to ensure management 
and control functions in accordance with good corporate 

governance on a sustainable basis.  

As part of its Board mandate, the committee has responsibility, 
among other things, for monitoring the integrity of the 
Company’s financial statements and results announcements. 
It also has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal controls and risk management systems.

The audit committee oversees the relationship with the 
external auditors; is responsible for their appointment, 
reappointment and remuneration; reviews the effectiveness 
of the external audit process; and ensures that the objectivity 
and independence of the auditors is maintained.

The external and internal audit functions are separated. Both 
the internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to 
the committee. 

The committee has discharged its responsibilities as set out 
in its terms of reference to the extent appropriate during 
the year and specific matters reviewed by the committee 
included:
–  review of the NBL half-yearly results, full year results and

annual report, including reports from the financial director
and external auditors on the results and the significant
judgments contained therein;

–  the review and approval of the external audit plan and
proposed fees for the 2010 year end;

–  the review and approval of the internal audit plan and
proposed fees for the 2010 year end;

–  monitoring the effectiveness of the risk management
process;

–  monitoring the effectiveness of the Company’s system of
internal controls;

–  a review of the Company’s policies and practices concerning
business conduct and ethics, including whistleblowing
reports received via the SpeakUp helpline; and

–   a review of internal and external audit reports and the results
thereof.

The committee has concluded that based on the foregoing, 
it is satisfied that auditor independence and objectivity have 
been maintained.
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Induction and professional development
A formal induction process is in place for Board appointments. 
This includes meetings with key executives, senior 
management, site meetings and meetings with key advisers, 
where appropriate. Opportunities to introduce the Board to 
management teams are taken, where possible.

All directors are provided with the opportunity, and encouraged 
to go for training and professional development to meet their 
individual needs. This may be at their request or as a result of 
the evaluation process of the Board. As required, updates are 
provided on relevant topics including, corporate governance, 
best practice, commercial and other risks, legislative and 
financial matters. A number of these interventions were offered 
to all directors during the past year.

Accounting and reporting 
The Board places strong emphasis on achieving the highest 
level of financial management, accounting and reporting to 
stakeholders. The directors accept their responsibility to 
all stakeholders, including the preparation of the financial 
statements and other information presented in the annual 
report in a manner that fairly presents the state of affairs 
and the results of the operations and cash flows of the 
Company.  

The external auditors are responsible for carrying out an 
independent examination of the financial statements in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing and 
reporting their opinion thereon. The auditors’ report is set out 
on page 56. 

The financial statements set out on pages 57 to 110 have been 
prepared by management in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the manner required 
by the Namibian Companies Act. The financial statements 
incorporate full and reasonable disclosure and are based on 
appropriate accounting policies, which have been consistently 
applied, and which are supported by reasonable and prudent 
judgment and estimates.  

Going concern 
In the opinion of the directors, the Company has adequate 
resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. 

As a result, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements. 

Internal control 
The directors are responsible for ensuring that internal control 
systems are in place that provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the safeguarding of assets and the prevention of their 
unauthorised use or disposition as well as the maintenance 
of proper accounting records and reliability of financial and 
operational information used in the business.  

In order to discharge this responsibility, the directors have 
appointed management to set standards and implement 
systems of internal control to achieve these objectives. Such 
controls and systems are based on established policies and 
procedures, including budgeting and forecasting disciplines 
and the monitoring of results against budgets and forecasts. 
These are implemented by trained personnel and are monitored 
through reviews and reports from senior executives and cost 
centre managers and the establishment of defalcation reporting 
procedures.  

Nothing has come to the attention of the directors or external 
auditors to indicate any material breakdown in the functioning 
of controls, procedures and systems during the year under 
review.  

The role of the secretary is clearly defined 
Appointment and removal of the secretary are matters for the 
Board. The secretary ensures that, in accordance with pertinent 
laws, the proceedings and affairs of the directorate and, where 
appropriate, members of the Company are properly administered. 
The secretary administers the statutory requirements of the 
Company in both Namibia and South Africa. All directors have 
direct access to the secretary at all times.  

Conflicts of interest 
All directors are required to disclose any potential conflicts of 
interest or affected transactions to the board of directors. This 
function is performed at each meeting of the board of directors. 
An unconflicted quorum of the Board or independent board 
committee considers any potential conflicts of interests in 
accordance with the articles of association and other statutory 
duties and authorises the transaction, where appropriate.
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No part of the Company’s business was managed this year by 
any third party in which any director has an interest, apart from 
O&L Group Companies. 

In addition to the above, the Company operates a system 
whereby all employees from junior management upwards are 
required to disclose any potential conflicts of interest as part 
of the annual certificate of compliance sign off.

Remuneration committee 
The objectives of the Remuneration Committee are: 
–  To ensure and make recommendation in this regard, that the

Company’s executive directors and senior executive officers
are fairly rewarded with regard to individual contributions to
the Company’s overall performance.

–  To ensure that the remuneration of directors and senior officials
of the Company is determined by committee members who
have no personal interest in the outcome of their decisions and
who will take due regard of the interests of the shareholders
and the financial and commercial health of the Company.

Composed of non-executive directors, this committee 
meets at least annually and decides the remuneration of 
executive directors and senior executives. The committee 
consists of three members and attendance at meetings 
was as follows:

Remuneration Committee 
Members (2 meetings held)
NB Blazquez (chairman) 2
TA De Man 1
TZM Hijarunguru 2

Remuneration levels are set at realistic levels in order to attract 
and retain the directors and executives needed to run the 
Company successfully.  

A reward strategy, linked to the performance levels and 
competency points of each executive, was adopted. This 
architecture includes a fixed reward, short-term incentives, 
based on a comprehensive performance management 
system, consisting of the following elements:  
– Identification of performance output measures;
–  Identification and implementation of executives’ functional

work stream;

–  Development of a weight-scoring system for evaluation
purposes as well as accepted standards of the performance;
and

–  Identification and development of the tools for the evaluation
processes.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for the 
assessment and approval of a Board remuneration 
strategy for the Company, including short and long-term 
incentive pay structures for executive management. 
These remuneration strategies are aimed at rewarding 
employees at market related levels and in accordance 
with their contribution to the Company’s operating and 
financial performance in terms of basic pay as well as short 
and long-term incentives. To promote identification with 
shareholders’ interest, incentives are considered a critical 
element of executive incentive pay. 

More details on the Company’s remuneration strategy are 
included in the remuneration report on page 36.

Effective communication with all  
stakeholders is important 
The Company subscribes to the principle of timely, balanced, 
relevant and understandable communication, focused on the 
substance rather than the form of the content. Information is 
communicated regularly and systematically with all relevant 
parties.  

Employee participation is important 
The directors believe that economically viable and self-
sustainable affirmative action is an integral part of the 
corporate governance within NBL and are committed to equal 
opportunities for all its employees regardless of their ethnic 
origin or gender. A formalised affirmative action strategy has 
been put in place to ensure alignment with employment equity 
legislation. In view of this, NBL has received official affirmative 
action certification from the employee equity commissioner.

The Company has a variety of participative structures on 
issues which affect employees directly or materially. These 
structures, which have been set up with trade unions and/
or employees’ representatives, are designed to achieve good 
employer/employee relations through effective sharing of 
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information, consultation and the identification and resolution 
of conflict. Various channels have been set up to facilitate 
this information-sharing process between employees and 
the Company, including open forums, suggestion boxes, 
departmental champions and dedicated human capital 
resources.

In addition to the above, communication channels are provided 
to all employees to allow them easy access to all Company 
policies, procedures and work instructions. All relevant policies 
are explained to employees as part of their induction and 
refresher training is offered regularly.

Risk management 
The Board recognises that risk management is of critical 
importance and is fully committed to complying with the 
risk management requirements and mandates of the Code 
of Corporate Practices and Conduct of the King III Report 
of Corporate Governance. The Board has delegated this 
responsibility to the Audit Committee for review. 

The Board’s policy of risk management encompasses all the 
significant risks to the Company which could undermine the 
achievement of our business objectives. The Board determines 
the levels of unacceptable risks and requires that operations 
manage and report in terms thereof. The severity of risks 
is measured in terms of risk assessment process and the 
implementation of risk interventions are prioritised accordingly. 

A risk identification and management programme is in 
place, is assessed regularly by management and is reviewed 
periodically by the audit committee. Processes are in place 
to ensure appropriate action is taken, where necessary, to 
remedy any deficiencies identified through the Company’s 
internal control and risk management processes.  

To such effect, the Company’s risk committee meets at least 
quarterly, incorporating feedback from all functional areas of the 
business, including health and safety, security, environmental, 
emergency planning, crisis management as well as any 
operational risks. The risk management committee has its own 
terms of reference and is made up of members representing 
key areas of the business, including operations, human capital, 
finance, compliance and risk management. Both the managing 

and financial directors serve on the committee. The findings 
and recommendations of the committee are submitted to the 
Audit Committee for review.

In addition to the above, a risk control structure has been 
created, which is co-ordinated by the Compliance Officer, who 
reports to the risk committee.

The risk and loss control procedures, together with the 
Company’s risk control standards form an integral part of 
the self insurance programme of the Company. The layered 
structure of the programme allows the Company to obtain 
competitive rates, while still protecting operations from major 
losses. To ensure compliance to its Risk Control Standards, 
the Company has been audited by both internal and external 
auditors, with satisfactory results.

The Board believes the Company’s risk management system 
and related processes were operating effectively during the 
past financial year.

Information technology and  
information systems
The Board recognises its responsibility for information 
technology (IT) and information system (IS) governance. Robust 
policies have been established, are implemented and the 
Board is committed to the promotion of an ethical information 
governance culture. The Company’s IT/IS strategy is integrated 
with core business and strategic processes. Performance of 
the strategy is continuously monitored by management and is 
reported to the Audit Committee on a regular basis.

IT and IS risk management forms an integral part of the 
Company’s risk management process, as described above. 
The Board is confident that adequate controls are in place to 
address any risks effectively and to safeguard and manage the 
Company’s IT assets.
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2010 provided another proud milestone, not just for everyone at Namibia Breweries, but 
for the entire nation... Celebrating 2090 - 20 Years of Namibian Independence - 90 Years 
of Exceptional Quality Brewing. In honour of this occasion, the employees of NBL made a 
‘human flag’ at the launch of the ‘Celebrating 2090’ campaign.
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Group Salient Features
30 June 2010 30 June 2009 %

N$ 000’s N$ 000’s Change

Turnover  1 741 883  1 577 370 10.4

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders   170 623   169 223 0.8

Earnings per ordinary share (cents) 82.6 81.9 0.8

Headline earnings per ordinary share (cents) 82.6 81.5 1.3

Dividends per ordinary share (cents) 44.1 39.2 12.5

Net asset value per ordinary share (cents) 338.5 300.0 12.8

Return on ordinary shareholders’ funds (%) 25.9 29.4 (11.9)
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Group Value Added Statement
30 June 2010 30 June 2009

Restated
Notes N$ 000’s N$ 000’s

WEALTH CREATED
Revenue  1 741 883  1 577 370 
Paid to suppliers for materials and services  (1 255 898)  (1 149 971)

VALUE ADDED   485 985   427 399 

Income from investments   18 340   11 729 

TOTAL WEALTH CREATED   504 325   439 128 

WEALTH DISTRIBUTION
Salaries, wages and other employment costs 1   187 846   143 586 
Providers of capital 
     Dividends to shareholders   91 046   80 931 
     Finance costs on borrowings   12 075   3 425 
Central and local governments 2   79 084   46 572 
Reinvested in Group to maintain and develop operations 
     Amortisation    622   3 907 
     Depreciation   60 903   47 278 
     Retained earnings   79 577   88 292 
     Deferred taxation  ( 6 828)   25 137 

TOTAL WEALTH DISTRIBUTED   504 325   439 128 

NOTES TO THE VALUE ADDED STATEMENT
1. Salaries, wages and other employment costs

Salaries, wages, overtime payments, commissions,
bonuses and allowances   163 689   121 631 
Total contributions to medical aid and pension fund   24 157   21 955 

  187 846   143 586 

2. Central and local governments
Normal corporate taxation   77 889   45 781 
Rates and taxes paid on properties   1 195    791 

  79 084   46 572 

3. Additional amounts collected on behalf of central and local governments
Customs and excise duties including import surcharges   375 339   333 232 
Value added tax collected on revenue   188 922   205 718 
PAYE deducted from remuneration paid   44 410   28 536 

  608 671   567 486 

Number of employees 590 550
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Five-Year Summary of Results
12 Months 12 Months 12 Months 12 Months* 12 Months*

N$ 000’s 30 June 2010 30 June 2009 30 June 2008 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION
Property, plant and equipment   474 126   431 705   354 079   324 338   318 902 
Investment in joint venture   553 406   469 411   463 583  -  - 
Other non-current assets   15 630   13 535   23 822   37 965   51 430 
Current assets   566 531   598 395   520 276   429 071   356 840 

 1 609 693  1 513 046  1 361 760   791 374   727 172 

Issued capital   1 024   1 024   1 024   1 024   1 024 
Retained income   698 160   618 583   530 291   455 659   389 086 

Ordinary shareholders’ equity   699 184   619 607   531 315   456 683   390 110 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (non-current)   5 444   4 469   4 348   19 375   36 866 
Derivative financial instrument (non-current)   188 258   188 258   220 270  -  - 
Deferred income (non-current)   216 567   245 012   239 596  -  - 
Other non-current liabilities   119 428   125 128   100 776   94 669   93 393 
Current liabilities   380 812   330 572   265 455   220 647   206 803 

 1 609 693  1 513 046  1 361 760   791 374   727 172 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Turnover  1 741 883  1 577 370  1 331 396  1 045 496   929 297 
Operating expenses  (1 428 092)  (1 309 903)  (1 149 812)  (898 480)  (827 798)

Operating profit   313 791   267 467   181 584   147 016   101 499 
Finance costs  (12 075)  (3 425)  (4 581)  (5 933)  (7 818)
Finance income   18 340   11 729   13 109   11 861   6 471 
Equity loss from Joint Venture  (78 372)  (35 630)  (6 266)  -  - 
Reversal of impairment / (impairment) of loan 
granted to Share Purchase Trust  -  -   -   1 891   1 681 

Profit before income tax   241 684   240 141   183 846   154 835   101 833 
Income tax expense  (71 061)  (70 918)  (42 446)  (33 634)  (18 568)

Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders   170 623   169 223   141 400   121 201   83 265 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
Cash generated by operations   383 107   240 135   204 008   165 761   143 311 
Dividends paid  (91 046)  (80 931)  (66 768)  (54 628)  (27 921)
Taxation paid  (73 704)  (51 917)  (48 959) (27) (50)

Net cash flow from operating activities   218 357   107 287   88 281   111 106   115 340 
Net cash flow applied to investing activities  (247 546)  (174 298)  (65 590)  (33 855)  (39 497)
Net cash flow from / (used in) financing activities   139 498  (19 279)  (19 381)  (29 349)  (49 101)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents   110 309  (86 290)   3 310   47 902   26 742 
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Summary of Statistics
12 Months 12 Months 12 Months 12 Months* 12 Months*

N$ 000’s 30 June 2010 30 June 2009 30 June 2008 30 June 2007 30 June 2006

ORDINARY SHARE PERFORMANCE
Weighted average number of shares in issue  (000’s) 206,529 206,529 206,529 206,529 206,529
Earnings per ordinary share (cents) 82.6 81.9 68.5 58.7 40.3
Headline earnings per ordinary share (cents) 82.6 81.5 68.3 58.8 39.2
Dividends per ordinary share (cents) 44.1 39.2 32.3 27.0 13.8
Dividend cover (times) 1.9 2.1 2.1 2.2 2.9
Net asset value per ordinary share (cents)  338.5 300.0 257.3 221.1 188.9

PROFITABILITY AND ASSET MANAGEMENT
Operating margin (%) 18.0 17.0 13.6 14.1 10.9
Return on total assets (%) 31.6 28.8 23.0 20.9 15.4
Return on ordinary shareholders’ funds (%) 25.9 29.4 28.6 28.6 23.0

LIQUIDITY AND LEVERAGE
Total liabilities to total shareholders’ funds (%) 82.7 84.8 85.9 54.0 64.1
Financial gearing ratio (%) 22.8 1.2 4.4 8.4 15.8
Interest cover 27.5 81.5 42.5 26.8 13.8
Current ratio 1.5 1.8 2.0 1.9 1.7

* = The change in accounting policy for returnable containers is not reflected for the years ended June 2007 and 2008.

DEFINITIONS
Dividend cover - Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders divided by dividends paid in the year.
Net asset value per share - Ordinary shareholders’ equity divided by the total number of ordinary shares in issue.
Operating margin - Operating profit expressed as a percentage of revenue.
Total assets - Property, plant and equipment, current and non-current assets.
Return on total assets - Operating profit plus finance income expressed as a percentage of average total assets (excluding 
investment in Joint Venture).
Return on ordinary shareholders’ funds - Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders expressed as a percentage of average 
ordinary shareholders’ equity.
Total liabilities - Interest-bearing loans and borrowings, other current and non-current liabilities.  Deferred taxation and income is 
excluded.
Financial gearing ratio (%) - Interest-bearing loans and borrowings expressed as a percentage of ordinary shareholders’ equity.
Interest cover - Operating profit plus finance income divided by finance costs.
Current ratio - Current assest divided by current liabilities.
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Ordinary Share Ownership
Number of Number of 

Shareholders % Shares %

HOLDINGS
1       - 499    377 28.98   83 409 0.04 
500   -    999    205 15.76   122 239 0.06 
1 000 - 1 999    299 22.98   348 103 0.17 
2 000 - 2 999    156 11.99   344 483 0.17 
3 000 - 3 999    22 1.69   73 447 0.04 
4 000 - 4 999    21 1.61   88 148 0.04 
5 000 - 9 999    106 8.15   630 929 0.30 
10 000 shares and above    115 8.84  204 838 242 99.18 

  1 301 100.00  206 529 000 100.00 

CATEGORY
Corporate bodies    21 1.61  123 248 157 59.68 
Nominee companies    16 1.23  74 597 100 36.12 
Private individuals   1 264 97.16  8 683 743 4.20 

  1 301 100.00  206 529 000 100.00 

SHAREHOLDER  SPREAD
The spread of shares held by non - public and public  
shareholders was as follows: at 30 June at 30 June 

2010 2009
% %

Non - public shareholders
- holding company 50.6 50.5
- directors and their associates, and
trustees of the Company’s share
purchase trust. 2.3 2.4

Public shareholders 47.1 47.1
100.0 100.0

MAJOR INDIVIDUAL HOLDINGS 
With the exception of nominee holdings, the register of members does not reflect individual beneficial shareholdings at  
30 June 2010 in excess of 1% of the total issued capital of the Company.
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Financial Review

Accounting policies 
The accounting policies of Namibia Breweries Limited comply 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and are 
consistent with those of the previous year, with exception of 
the change in accouting policy for the treatment of returnable 
containers.

Revenue 
Consolidated revenue increased by 10% to N$1,741.9 million 
from N$1,577.4 million for the year ended 30 June 2010. The 
increase in revenue is primarily driven by the increase in beer 
volumes in Namibia, South Africa and other export markets 
along with price increases in certain markets. 

Operating expenditure 
Operating expenditure (excluding depreciation) increased by 
9% over the previous year reflecting the increase in volumes 
offset with some lower price increases of key inputs. 

The Group’s operating profit for the year ended 30 June 2010 
showed an increase of 17% over the previous year. This 
translates into an operating margin of 18% compared to 17% 
in the previous year. This year on year increase was due to 
tighter control of input costs and higher volumes.

Taxation 
The taxation charge for the year ended 30 June 2010 was 
N$71.1 million compared to N$70.9 million for the previous 
year.  In the current year taxable profits from exports was a 
greater percentage of total taxable income than in the prior 
year. The group benefits from  allowances on profits derived 
from exports.  Accumulated tax losses of the Group’s wholly 
owned South African subsidiary have not been recognised, 
due to uncertainty regarding the utilisation of the losses. 

Profit after tax and earnings per share 
Profit Attributable to Shareholders increased by 1% over the 
corresponding period, based on an effective tax rate of 29%.  
The earnings per share for the year ended 30 June 2010 is 
82.6 cents (2009: 81.9 cents).

Financial position 
The long-term debt to equity ratio remains healthy at 24% and 
is still within prescribed borrowing capacity of the Group (refer 
note 32). 

Beer 
Namibia beer sales have continued to grow strongly and this 
year we increased sales by 10% year on year. This was mainly 
driven by Windhoek Lager, Tafel Lager and Windhoek Draught. 
To support this growth, NBL invested in a new look 750ml 
returnable bottle for our Windhoek and Tafel Lager brands. 
The new bottle was successfully launched into the market in 
December 2009. 

DHN, our South African Joint Venture, continued to grow 
its portfolio in the period under review despite the difficult 
trading conditions. The Windhoek trademark returned a solid 
performance and the launch of Windhoek Draught 440ml in a 
bottle has been very successful. NBL production for the South 
African market was also up compared to the previous year. 
During the period, DHN also launched Strongbow and a range 
of pre-mixed RTDs (Ready To Drink). The operating losses 
reflect DHN start up, the losses were expected and are in line 
with the original business case. 

Our business in our other export markets continued to grow. 
Windhoek Lager performed well in a number of countries 
which included Botswana. Sales to the Angolan market 
were however more challenged, this was due to currency 
exchange movements. Following the global distribution deal 
with Diageo plc, Windhoek Lager was launched into several 
new markets including the United Kingdom, Cameroon, Kenya 
and Uganda.

Other
The business is also licensed to distribute in Namibia a 
number of new products from Diageo plc and on 1 July 2009,  
NBL added to its portfolio a range of RTD beverages 
including Smirnoff Spin, Smirnoff Storm and Archers Aqua 
alongside with Foundry Cider, Kilkenny and Guinness Draught.  
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Two of these brands, Smirnoff Spin and Smirnoff Storm are 
now being produced by NBL for both the Namibian and 
export markets. In December 2009, NBL & PepsiCo agreed to 
discontinue the commercial distribution agreement. NBL has 
however continued to co-pack for the new Namibian PepsiCo 
agent in the short-term.

Significant changes
Our joint venture in South Africa continues to perform in line 
with expectations, the Group has advanced loans to DHN 
Drinks (Pty) Ltd during the period in line with the initial original 
operating plans.  The Group has also continued to invest in 
plant and equipment in line with its expansion and replacement 
plans.  The increased investment in assets has been funded 
by a term facility which has been secured by the cession 
of our debtors. The decrease in segment assets of softs is 
attributable to the exit from the PepsiCo agreement.

Cash flows 
Net cash flow from operating activities increased from N$107.3 
million in the prior year to N$218.4 million in the current year.  
The increase was driven by an increase in volumes and 
greater efficiences achieved within working capital. Net cash 
flow from investing activities increased from a net outflow of  
N$174.3 million in the prior year to N$247.5 million in the 
current year, due to an increase in our investment in DHN 
Drinks (Pty) Ltd.  Net cash in flow from financing activities was 
due to the medium term loan facility (see Annexure A).
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Approval of Annual Financial Statements

Directors’ responsibility statement
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of the annual consolidated and separate 
financial statements, comprising the statements of financial 
position at 30 June 2010, and the statements of comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the notes to the annual financial statements, which 
include a summary of significant accounting policies, other 
explanatory notes and the directors’ report, in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting and in terms of the Namibian 
Companies Act.

The directors’ responsibility includes: designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of these annual financial statements so 
that they are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable 
in the circumstances.

The directors’ responsibility also includes maintaining 
adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk 
management.

The directors have made an assessment of the Group and 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and there is 
no reason to believe the businesses will not be going concerns 
in the year ahead.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the Group 
annual financial statements and separate parent annual 
financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Namibian 
Companies Act.

Approval of consolidated and separate financial 
statements
The annual consolidated and separate financial statements 
of the Company, as indicated above, were approved by the 
board of directors on 31 October 2010 and signed on their 
behalf by:

Sven Thieme
Chairman

Desmond van Jaarsveld
Managing Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the members of Namibia Breweries Limited
We have audited the annual consolidated and separate 
financial statements of Namibia Breweries Limited, which 
comprise the statements of financial position at 30 June 2010, 
and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in 
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes 
to the annual financial statements, which include a summary 
of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and 
the directors’ report as set out on pages 58 to 110.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial 
statements
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of these annual financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
and in the manner required by the Namibian Companies 
Act. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the annual financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, these annual financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 
financial position of Namibia Breweries Limited at 30 June 
2010, and its consolidated and separate financial 
performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by 
the Namibian Companies Act.

KPMG
Registered Accountants and Auditors
Chartered Accountants (Namibia) Windhoek
Windhoek
31 October 2010

30 Schanzen Road, Klein Windhoek, Windhoek, Namibia
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Report of the Directors

Founded in 1920, Namibia Breweries Limited is principally 
engaged in the brewing and distribution of beer and is also 
active in the manufacturing of soft drinks.

Financial results
The Group’s operating profit for the year ended 30 June 2010 
showed an increase of 17% over the previous year. This 
translates into an operating margin of 18%.

Dividends paid
Details of the ordinary dividends declared, paid and payable in 
respect of the past year are reflected in note 28 to the financial 
statements.

Dividend declaration
In addition to the interim dividend paid in May 2010, the 
board of directors has decided to declare a final dividend of 
23 cents per ordinary share resulting in a total dividend of  
46 cents per ordinary share for the year under review.  
Payment will be effected to the shareholders of ordinary 
shares in the books of the company registered at the  
close of business on the 15th of October 2010 and will be 
paid on the 19th of November 2010.

Capital expenditure
Capital expenditure for the year amounted to N$104 million.

Issued capital
Full details of the authorised and issued capital of the 
Company at 30 June 2010 are set out in note 15 to the 
financial statements. The 92 471 000 unissued shares of the 
Company are under the control of the directors in terms of 
a members’ resolution dated 4 December 2009. In terms of 
the Companies Act, this authority expires at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting. On 2 December 2010, the members 
will accordingly be asked to extend this said authority until the 
Annual General Meeting to be held in December 2011.

Directorate and secretary
The names of the directors as well as the name and address 
of the Company’s secretary appear on page 39.

Subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Annexure 
C of this report.

Holding company
The Company’s holding company is NBL Investment Holdings 
(Proprietary) Limited, of which the shareholding is held by 
Ohlthaver & List Finance and Trading Corporation Limited, 
Heineken International B.V. (“Heineken”) and Diageo plc 
(“Diageo”). The Company’s ultimate holding company is List 
Trust Company (Proprietary) Limited.

Event subsequent to reporting date
There were no significant events after the reporting date to be 
accounted for or disclosed in the annual financial statements.
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COMPANY   GROUP

at 30 June   at 30 June   at 30 June  at 30 June   at 30 June   at 30 June 
Restated   Restated  Restated   Restated 

2008 2009 2010 2010 2009 2008
 N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s  Notes  N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s 
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Statements of Financial Position

ASSETS 
Non-current assets

352 539   430 231   472 717 Property, plant and equipment 4   474 126   431 705   354 079 
78 049   59 318   48 469 Subordinated loans 5  -  -   - 

3 870    622   2 717 Intangible assets 6   2 717    622   3 870 
1 617   1 430   1 157 Investment in subsidiaries 7 

469 849   511 307   673 674 Investment in a joint venture 8   553 406   469 411   463 583 
12 607   12 899   12 899 Loans 9   12 899   12 899   12 607 

14    14    14 Available-for-sale investments 10    14    14    14 
7 331  -  -  Deferred taxation asset 11.1  -  -    7 331 

925 876  1 015 821  1 211 647  1 043 162   914 651   841 484 

Current assets

- 20 150 - Investment in a joint venture 8 - 20 150  - 
118 595 185 814   124 533 Inventories 12   124 533 185 814   118 639 
215 338 325 300   264 953 Trade and other receivables 13   264 975 325 717   248 633 
125 723 39 220   144 316 Cash and cash equivalents 14   177 023 66 714   153 004 

9 614 18 731   26 560 Subordinated loans 5  -  -   - 
-   1 361 - Income tax refundable  -  -   - 

 469 270   590 576   560 362   566 531   598 395   520 276 
1 395 146  1 606 397  1 772 009 Total assets  1 609 693  1 513 046  1 361 760 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

1 024   1 024   1 024 Share capital 15   1 024   1 024   1 024 
536 291   665 180   820 776 Retained earnings   698 160   618 583   530 291 
537 315   666 204   821 800 Ordinary shareholders’ equity   699 184   619 607   531 315 

Non-current liabilities

88 107   67 372   33 633 Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16   5 444   4 469   4 348 
14 929  -  -  Non-interest bearing financial liability 17  -  -    14 929 

174 968   188 258   188 258 Derivative financial instruments 20.2   188 258   188 258   174 968 
269 969   245 012   216 567 Deferred income 18   216 567   245 012   269 969 

Post employment medical aid  
6 647   13 193   14 321 and severance pay benefit plan 19   14 321   13 193   6 647 

 61 172   83 389   83 441 Deferred taxation liability 11.2   105 107   111 935   94 129 
615 792   597 224   536 220   529 697   562 867   564 990 

Current liabilities

29 017   23 692   188 738 Interest bearing loans and borrowings 16   153 631   3 033   19 008 
- 14 929 - Non-interest bearing financial liability 17 - 14 929  - 

9 983 10 825   10 825 Deferred income 18   10 825 10 825   9 983 
196 927 267 013   201 503 Trade and other payables 20.1   203 433 272 411   226 748 

716 26 510   5 874 Derivative financial instruments 20.2   5 874 26 510    716 
5 396 - 7 049 Income tax payable   7 049   2 864   9 000 

242 039   342 969   413 989   380 812   330 572   265 455 

1 395 146  1 606 397  1 772 009 Total equity and liabilities  1 609 693  1 513 046  1 361 760 
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COMPANY   GROUP
    for the year  for the year  for the year  for the year
 ended 30 June ended 30 June ended 30 June ended 30 June 

 Restated  Restated  
2009 2010 2010 2009

 N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s  Notes  N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s  
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Statements of Comprehensive Income

1 576 925  1 741 351 Revenue 21  1 741 883  1 577 370 

 (1 300 244)  (1 426 249) Operating expenses 22  (1 428 092)  (1 309 903) 

  276 681   315 102 Operating profit 23   313 791   267 467 

 (12 645)  (20 577) Finance costs 24  (12 075)  (3 425) 

  16 783   22 012 Finance income 25   18 340   11 729 

  280 819   316 537 Profit before income tax 320 056 275 771 

Equity loss from Joint Venture 8  (78 372)  (35 630) 

  241 684   240 141 

 (70 999)  (69 895) Income tax expense 26  (71 061)  (70 918) 

  209 820   246 642 Profit for the year   170 623   169 223 

-  -  Other comprehensive income for the year  -  -  

209 820   246 642 Total comprehensive income for the year 170 623   169 223 

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

209 820   246 642 Owners of the parent 170 623   169 223 

- - Non-controlling interests - -

209 820   246 642 170 623   169 223 

Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share (cents)    27.1 82.6 81.9
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COMPANY   GROUP

at 30 June   at 30 June  at 30 June   at 30 June 
 Restated  Restated 

2009 2010 2010 2009
 N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s  Notes  N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s  
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Statements of Cash Flows

  103 618   234 975 CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   218 357   107 287 

 1 456 138  1 790 873 Cash receipts from customers  1 791 800  1 489 461 

 (1 223 381)  (1 403 419) Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (1 408 693)  (1 249 326)

  232 757   387 454 Cash generated by operations 29.1   383 107   240 135

 (80 931)  ( 91 046) Dividends paid 29.2  (91 046)  (80 931)

 (48 208)  ( 61 433) Income tax paid 29.3  (73 704)  (51 917)

 (161 030)  ( 243 629) CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (247 546)  (174 298)

  13 775   11 545 Finance income   7 873   8 721 

 (27 125)  ( 95 120) Purchase of shares in joint venture  (95 120)  (27 125)

 (31 475)  ( 54 250) Loans advanced to joint venture  (54 250)  (31 475)

- (27) Loans advanced to subsidiaries 

  8 214 273 Loans repaid by subsidiaries 

 (89 852)  ( 83 331) Expansion of property, plant and equipment  (83 331)  (89 852)

 (36 861)  ( 20 905) Replacement of property, plant and equipment  (20 905)  (36 861)

(659) ( 2 717) Acquisition of intangible asset  (2 717)  (659)

-  - Proceeds on sale of available-for-sale investments  -  - 

  2 953    903 Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment    904   2 953 

 (29 091)   113 750 CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   139 498  (19 279)

 (12 645)  ( 20 577) Finance costs  (12 075)  (3 425)

(Repayment of) / proceeds from interest bearing 
 (26 060)  ( 18 693) loans and borrowings   1 573  (15 854)

- 150 000 Proceeds from medium term financing   150 000  - 

  9 614 3 020 Increase in subordinated loans  -  - 

 (86 503)   105 096 Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   110 309  (86 290) 

  125 723   39 220 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year   66 714   153 004 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

  39 220   144 316 AT END OF THE YEAR 14   177 023   66 714 
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Statements of Changes in Equity

GROUP

Balance at 30 June 2008 1 024 530 291 531 315 

   Profit for the year - 169 223 169 223 

   Other comprehensive income for the year -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent - 169 223 169 223 

Dividends to equity holders 28 - (80 931) (80 931)

Balance at 30 June 2009 1 024 618 583 619 607 

   Profit for the year - 170 623 170 623 

   Other comprehensive income for the year -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent - 170 623 170 623 

Dividends to equity holders 28 - (91 046) (91 046)

Balance at 30 June 2010 1 024 698 160 699 184 

COMPANY  

Balance at 30 June 2008 1 024 536 291 537 315 

   Profit for the year - 209 820 209 820 

   Other comprehensive income for the year -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent - 209 820 209 820 

Dividends to equity holders 28 - (80 931) (80 931)

Balance at 30 June 2009 1 024 665 180 666 204 

   Profit for the year - 246 642 246 642 

   Other comprehensive income for the year -  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent - 246 642 246 642 

Dividends to equity holders 28 - (91 046) (91 046)

Balance at 30 June 2010 1 024 820 776 821 800 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

1. Reporting entity
Namibia Breweries Limited (the “Company”) is a company
domiciled in Namibia.  The consolidated financial statements
of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2010
comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and the Group’s
interest in Joint Ventures (together referred to as the “Group”
and individually as “Group entities”).

2. Basis of preparation
(a) Statement of compliance
The Company and Group financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) and the requirements of the Namibian
Companies Act.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of 
Directors on 31 October 2010.

(b) Basis of measurement
The Company and Group financial statements are prepared on
the historical cost basis, modified for the fair value treatment of
financial instruments.

(c) Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Namibia Dollars
(NAD), which is the Company’s and Group’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency.

All information presented in NAD has been rounded to the 
nearest thousand. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.  The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation 
uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements is included below:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the losses can be utilised.  Significant 
management judgement is required to determine the amount 
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon 
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together 
with future tax planning strategies.  The carrying amount of 
recognised and unrecognised tax losses are disclosed in  
note 11.

Post employment benefits
The cost of post employment medical benefits is determined 
using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuation involves 
making assumptions about discount rates, medical inflation, 
expected return on assets and mortality rates. Due to the 
long term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject to 
significant uncertainty. Further details are given in note 19.

Severance benefit obligations
Severance pay has been provided for all emplyees. Actuarial 
valuations are based on assumptions which include employee 
turnover, mortality rates, the discount rate, the inflation rate 
and rates of increases in compensation costs. Further details 
are given in note 19.

Joint Venture and derivative instrument
The cost, being the fair value paid, of the investment in the 
Joint Venture and the fair value of the distribution right granted 
to the Joint Venture was determined using discounted cash 
flow valuations. These valuations included assumptions 
regarding future volume growth, projected future profit or 
loss estimates and discount rates. The very nature of these 
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

assumptions that were applied to the future projections, are 
subject to significant uncertainties. Further details are given in 
notes 8, 17 and 20.2.

Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets
The Group and Company depreciates items of property, plant, 
equipment and intangible assets down to residual value over 
the useful life of the assets.  Management makes and applies 
assumptions about the expected useful life and residual 
value of these assets in determining the annual depreciation 
charge.  Further details are given in the the accounting policy 
note on depreciation and in Annexure B.

Deferred income
Deferred income is recognised in profit or loss on a straight 
line basis over the period of time to which the benefit 
relates to. Significant management judgement is required 
to determine the length of anticipated period of time over 
which the deferred income is recognised. Further details are 
provided in note 18.

3. Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied
consistently to all periods presented in the Company’s and
Group’s financial statements, except as noted in 3.1, 3.2 and
New and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations adopted.

(a) Basis of consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities over whose financial and
operating policies the Group has the power to exercise
control, so as to obtain benefits from their activities. In
assessing control potential voting rights that presently are
exercisable are taken into account. The financial statements
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the
parent company, using consistent accounting policies.

Investment in subsidiaries are shown at cost in the Company’s 
financial statements.

(ii) Jointly controlled entities
The Group’s interest in jointly controlled entities are accounted

for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity 
method, the interest in a jointly controlled operation is 
carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus post 
acquisition changes in the Group’s net share of the assets.  
The statement of comprehensive income reflects the share 
of the results of the operations of the jointly controlled entity. 
Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the 
Group and the jointly controlled operation are eliminated to 
the extent of the interest in the jointly controlled entity. 

(iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised
income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

Unrealised gains from transactions with equity accounted 
investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent 
of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are 
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to 
the extent there is no evidence of impairment.

(b) Foreign currency
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are initially
recorded at the functional currency rate ruling at the transaction
date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are re-translated at the functional currency rate
of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are
taken to profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

(c) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.  Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed
assets includes the cost of material and direct labour and
other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a
working condition for its intended use.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment.  
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(c) Property, plant and equipment (continued)
(i) Recognition and measurement (continued)
Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds
from disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment and are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Subsequent costs
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant
and equipment is capitalised when it is probable that future
economic benefits from the use of the asset will be increased
and its cost can be reliably measured. All other subsequent
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the period in which
it is incurred.

(iii) Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of each of the items of
property, plant and equipment.  Leased assets are depreciated
over the shorter of the lease term and their useful life’s unless it
is reasonably certain that the Group and Company will obtain
ownership by the end of the lease term.

The depreciation rates for the current and comparative periods 
are as follows:

2010 2009
Freehold buildings 2 - 12% 2 - 12%
Leasehold land and buildings 4% 4%
Plant and machinery 4 - 20% 4 - 20%
Vehicles 20% 20%
Furniture and equipment 10% 10%
Returnable containers 20% -

The asset’s residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation 
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year-
end. Land is not depreciated. The carrying values are reviewed 
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset is included in profit or loss in the 
year the asset is derecognised.

Depreciation is not provided on assets during the time of 
construction.

(d) Intangible assets
(i) Research and development
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the
prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge
and understanding, and expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised in profit or loss as an
expense as incurred.

Expenditure on development activities, whereby research 
findings are applied to a plan or design for the production of 
new or substantially improved products and processes, is 
capitalised if the product or process is technically feasible, 
costs can be reliably measured, future economic benefits 
are feasible and the Group or Company intends to and has 
sufficient resources to complete development and to use or 
sell the asset. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost 
of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of 
overheads. Other development expenditure is recognised in 
profit or loss as an expense as incurred. 

Capitalised development expenditure is measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

(ii) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets acquired by the Group or Company,
which have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

(iii) Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent development expenditure on capitalised
intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the
future economic benefit embodied in the specific assets to
which it relates. All other subsequent expenditure is expensed
as incurred.

(iv) Amortisation
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or infinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised
on a straight line basis over the estimated useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. Intangible assets
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with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually 
and are not amortised. If the carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss will be recognised. 
Amortisation and impairment charges on intangible assets 
are charged to profit or loss. If an intangible asset with an 
indefinite life has changed to a finite life the change is made 
on a prospective basis. The amortisation rates are disclosed 
in Annexure B.

The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of an intangible asset is the gain or loss on 
disposal of that asset. These gains and losses are recognised 
in profit or loss.

(e)  Leased assets
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains 
a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and 
requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset 
or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use  
the asset.

Leases are classified as finance leases where substantially all 
the risks and rewards associated with ownership of an asset 
are transferred to the Group or Company.

Operating leases are those leases which do not fall within the 
scope of the above definition. Payments made under leases 
are recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the 
term of the lease.

(f)  Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, 
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present location and condition, and is determined as 
follows:

-   Raw materials, merchandise and consumable stores on the 
weighted average basis;

-   Manufactured  finished  products and  work-in-progress, at 
raw material cost on the first-in, first-out basis plus overhead 
expenses based on normal operating capacity.

Obsolete, redundant and slow moving inventories are identified 
on a regular basis and are written down to their estimated net 
realisable values.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of the business, less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make  
the sale.

(g)  Impairment
(i)  Financial assets
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit 
or loss, is assessed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired.  
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective 
evidence indicates that one or more events have had 
a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of  
the assets that can be estimated reliably.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured 
at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between the 
carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest 
rate.  An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale 
financial asset is calculated by reference to its fair value.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any 
cumulative loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial 
asset recognised previously in equity is transferred to profit 
or loss.  

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised. Impairment loss reversals are recognised in profit 
or loss except for impairment reversals of available-for-sale 
equity securities which are recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

(ii)  Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Company’s and the Group’s non-
financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, 
are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, 
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  
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(g) Impairment (continued)
(ii) Non-financial assets (continued)
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to
sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of 
an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in 
profit or loss. 

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss has been recognised.

(h) Financial instruments
(i) Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, interest-bearing
borrowings, trade and other payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at 
fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through profit and 
loss, any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent 
to initial recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are 
measured as described below.  

Accounting for finance income and costs is discussed in note 
3(k) and 3(l).

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the Company 
and Group commits to purchase the asset.

(ii) Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss
Included in this category are the derivative financial instruments.
Financial assets or liabilities classified as at fair value through

profit or loss are subsequent to initial recognition measured 
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit  
or loss.

(iii) Loans and receivables
Included in this category are the loans to the share purchase
trust as well as to holding company and fellow subsidiaries.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Amortised cost is computed as the
amount initially recognised minus principle repayments, plus or
minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between the initially recognised
amount and the maturity amount. This calculation includes
all fees and points paid or received between parties to the
contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and all other premiums and discounts. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through
the amortisation process.

(iv) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables, which generally have 30-60 day terms,
are subsequent to initial recognition, recognised at amortised
costs, less impairment losses.

(v) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call
with banks, net of bank overdrafts, all of which are available for
use by the Company and Group unless otherwise stated.

(vi) Interest bearing loans and borrowings
Included in this category are long and medium term financing
and short term borrowings. Non-derivative financial liabilities
are recognised at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the 
value of proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.  Finance 
charges are accounted for on an accrual basis and are added 
to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they 
are not settled in the period in which they arise.
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(vii) Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets - A financial asset is derecognised where the
rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired.

Financial liabilities - A financial liability is derecognised when 
the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled  
or expires.
(viii) Non-interest bearing financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing financial liabilities are recognised at
amortised cost.

(i) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company or Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made for the amount of the obligation.
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Company 
and Group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring 
plan, and the restructuring has either commenced or has 
been announced publicly. Future operating losses are not 
provided for.

(j) Revenue
Revenue comprises royalty and rental income and the sales
of beer, soft drinks, schnaps and by-products, less indirect
taxes, excise duty and discounts.

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Company or Group 
and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following 
specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue 
is recognised:

(i) Sale of Goods
Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, recovery
of the consideration is probable, the associated costs can
be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management

involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can 
be measured reliably.  

(ii) Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease.

(iii) Royalty income
Royalty income is recognised on an accural basis in accordance
with the substance of the relevant agreement.

(k) Finance income
Finance income comprises interest income on funds. Interest
income is recognised in the year as it accrues in profit or loss,
using the effective interest method.

(l) Finance costs
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings.
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the
effective interest method. Finance costs on qualifying assets
are capitalised.

(m) Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in
which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income.

Current tax comprises tax payable calculated on the basis of 
the expected taxable income for the year, using the tax rates 
and tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date and any adjustment of tax payable for previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary 
differences:

–  The initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit not taxable
profit or loss; and
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(m) Income tax (continued)
–  Investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to

the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

–  Taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition
of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at 
each reporting date to determine that sufficient taxable profit 
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to 
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed 
at the reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred liabilities are offset, if a legally 
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same 
taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

(n) Value added tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the
amount of value added tax except:

–  Where the value added tax incurred on a purchase of assets
or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in
which case the value added tax is recognised as part of the
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item
as applicable; and

–  Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of
value added tax included.

The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position.

(o) Earnings per share
The calculation of earnings per share is based on earnings
attributable to ordinary shareholders. Account is taken of the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the
period during which they have participated in the income
of the Group. The Group has no dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

Earnings is defined as the  profit for the year after taxation 
and non-controlling interest.

(p) Employee benefits
(i) Short term benefits
The cost of all short term employee benefits is recognised
during the period in which the employee renders the related
service, on an undiscounted basis.  A liability is recognised
for the amount expected to be paid if the Company or Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee
and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(ii) Retirement benefits
The policy of the Group and Company is to provide retirement
benefits for its employees. The contribution paid by the
Group and Company to fund obligations for the payment of
retirement benefits are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss when they are due. The Ohlthaver & List Retirement
Fund, which is a defined contribution fund, covers all the
Group’s employees and is governed by the Pension Funds
Act.

(iii) Equity compensation benefits
The Group and Company grants share options to certain
employees under an employee share plan controlled by the
ultimate holding company.

(iv) Post employment medical benefits
The Group and Company provides for post employment
healthcare benefits to qualifying employees and retired
personnel by subsidising a portion of their medical aid
contributions. This scheme operates as a defined benefit
plan and the cost of providing benefits under the plan is
determined using the projected credit unit method.
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Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in 
full. The past service cost is recognised as an expense on a 
straight line basis over the average period until the benefits 
become vested. If the benefits are already vested immediately 
following the introduction of, or changes to pension plan, 
past service cost is recognised as an expense immediately.

The entitlement to the benefits is usually based on the 
employee remaining in service up to retirement age and 
completing a minimum service period.

(v)  Severance benefit obligation
In accordance with the Namibia Labour Act, 2007, severance 
benefits are payable to an employee, if the employee 
is dismissed, dies while employed or resigns/retires on 
reaching the age of 65 years. The obligation for severance 
benefits to current employees is actuarially determined 
in respect of all Group employees and is provided for in 
full. The cost of providing benefits is determined using 
the projected-unit-credit method, with actuarial valuations 
being carried out at the end of each reporting period. The 
movement for the year is recognised in profit or loss in the 
year in which it occurs.

(q)  Operating segment
For management purposes, the Group is currently organised 
into three operating divisions - beer, soft drinks and other 
products.  These divisions are the basis on which the Group 
reports its segment information.

The Group’s operations are located in Namibia. The Group’s 
products are sold on the local market and are exported to 
other African countries. Exports to countries other than South 
Africa are not significant. The basis of segment reporting  
is representative of the internal structure used for  
management reporting.

Segment results include revenue and expenses directly 
attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of enterprise 
revenue and expenses that can be allocated on a reasonable 
basis to a segment.

Segment assets and liabilities comprise those operating 
assets and liabilities that are directly attributable to the 

segment or can be allocated to the segment on a reasonable 
basis. Segment assets and liabilities do not include income 
tax items.

Capital expenditure represents the total costs incurred during 
the period to acquire segment assets that are expected to 
be used during more than one period (namely, property, plant 
and equipment, and intangible assets).

(r) New and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations 
adopted
The Group and Company has adopted the following new 
and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations during the year. 
Adoption of these revised standards and interpretations did 
not have any effect on the financial performance or position 
of the Group and Company. They did however give rise to 
additional disclosures.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amended 
standard requires additional disclosures about fair value 
measurement and liquidity risk. Fair value measurements 
related to items recorded at fair value are to be disclosed by 
source of inputs using a three level fair value hierarchy, by 
class, for all financial instruments recognised at fair value. In 
addition, a reconciliation between the beginning and ending 
balance for level 3 fair value measurements is now required, 
as well as significant transfers between levels in the fair value 
hierarchy. The amendments also clarify the requirements 
for liquidity risk disclosures with respect to derivative 
transactions and assets used for liquidity management. The 
fair value measurement disclosures are presented in note 33.  
The liquidity risk disclosures are not significantly impacted by 
the amendments and are presented in note 33.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The revised 
standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. 
The statement of changes in equity includes only details of 
transactions with owners, with non-owner changes in equity 
presented in a reconciliation of each component of equity as 
applicable. In addition, the standard introduces the statement 
of comprehensive income: it presents all items of recognised 
income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two 
linked statements. The Group and Company has elected to 
present one single statement.
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(r) New and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations
adopted (continued)
Accounting for business combinations: From 1 January
2010 the Group has applied IFRS 3 Business Combinations
(2008) in accounting for business combinations. The change
in accounting policy has been applied prospectively and has
had no material impact on earnings per share.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group. Control is the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as 
to obtain benefits form its activities. In assessing control, the 
group takes into consideration potential voting rights that 
currently are exercisable.

Acquisitions on or after 1 January 2010
For acquisitions on or after 1 January 2010, the Group 
measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

–   the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

–  the recognized amount of nay non-controlling interests in
the acquiree, plus if the business combination is achieved
in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the
acquiree; less

–  the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the
identifiable assets acquired an liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts 
related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated 
with the issue of debt or equity securities that the Group  
incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed 
as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair 
value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration 
is classified as equity, it is not re-measured and settlement is 
accounted for within equity.

When share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are 
required to be exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s 
employees (acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, 
then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement 
awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred 
in the business combination. This determination is based on 
the market-based value of the replacement awards compared 
with the market-based value of the acquiree’s awards and the 
extent to which the replacement awards relate to past and/or 
future services.

Acquisitions between 1 January 2004 and 1 January 2010
For acquisitions between 1 January 2004 and 1 January 2010, 
goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition 
over the Group’s interest in the recognised amount (generally 
fair value) of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the acquiree. When the excess was negative, a 
bargain purchase gain was recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

Transaction costs, other than those associated with the 
issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurred in 
connection with business combinations were capitalised as 
part of the cost of the acquisition.

Acquisitions prior to 1 January 2004 (date of transition to IFRSs)
As part of its transition to IFRSs, the Group elected to restate 
only those business combinations that occurred on or after  
1 January 2003. 

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)
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Standards and Interpretations adopted with no effect on the financial statements

The following new and revised schedule Standards and Interpretations have also been adopted in these financial statements.  
Their adoption has not had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these financial statements but may effect the 
accounting for the future transactions or arrangements.

Standards and 
interpretations Description

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment 
- Amendments relating to vesting conditions and cancellations
- Amendements resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRS

IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 
- Amendments resulting from May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRS

IFRS 8 Operating Segments

IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 
- Amendments resulting from May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRS

IAS 19 Employee Benefits 
- Amendments resulting from May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRS

IAS 20 Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance 
- Amendments resulting from May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRS

IAS 23 Borrowing Cost 
- Comprehensive revision to prohibit immediate expensing
- Amendments resulting from May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRS

IAS 27 Consolidated and Seperate Financial Statements 
- Consequential amendments arising from amendments to IFRS
- Amendments resulting from May 2008 Annual Improvements to IFRS
- Amendment relating to cost of an investment on first-time adoption

(s) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2010,
and have not been applied in preparing the Company’s and Group’s financial statements.

The following statements are not yet effective and the Group and Company has assessed that adoption of these statements will 
not have any material impact on the financial results or position of the Group and Company. 
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First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards  
-  Amendments relating to oil and gas assets and determining whether an

arrangement contains a lease

First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 
-  Limited Exemption from Comparative IFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time Adopters

Share-based Payment  
-  Amendments relating to group cash-settled share-based payment transactions

Business Combinations 
-  Amendments resulting from May 2010 Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 
- Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Operating Segments 
-  Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Financial Instruments  
- Classification and Measurement

IAS 19 The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements 
and their Interaction

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

Presentation of Financial Statements  
-  Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Statement of Cash Flows 
-  Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Leases  
- Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Related Party Disclosures  
- Revised definition of related parties

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
-  Amendments resulting from May 2010 Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Financial Instruments: Presentation  
- Amendments resulting to classification of rights issues

Interim Financial Reporting 
-  Amendments resulting from May 2010 Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Impairment of Assets  
- Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRSs

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
-  Amendments resulting from April 2009 Annual Improvements to IFRSs

IFRS 1 

IFRS 1 

IFRS 2 

IFRS 3 

IFRS 5 

IFRS 8 

IFRS 9 

IFRIC 14 

IFRIC 19

IAS 1 

IAS 7 

IAS 17 

IAS 24 

IAS 27 

IAS 32 

IAS 34 

IAS 36 

IAS 39

1 January 2010 

1 July 2010 

1 January 2010 

1 July 2010 

1 January 2010 

1 January 2010 

1 January 2013 

1 January 2011 

1 July 2010

1 January 2010 

1 January 2010 

1 January 2010 

1 January 2011 

1 July 2010 

1 February 2010 

1 January 2011 

1 January 2010 

1 January 2010

(s) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued)

New/Revised International Financial Reporting Standards Effective Date

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)



Namibia Breweries Limited Annual Report 2010

73

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

30 Jun 2010 30 Jun 2009 30 Jun 2008
N$’000 N$’000 N$’000

Statement of Financial Position as at
Increase in Property, plant and equipment 11 438 9 936 5 124
Increase in Trade and other payables 11 438 9 936 5 124

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
Increase / (decrease) in net income: 
Change in container write offs  22 754 12 671 17 889
Change in depreciation and impairments (19 168) (11 144) (19 332)
Change in gain/loss on disposals (3 586) (1 527) 1 443

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 
Increase in Cash Generated from Operations 20 670 15 956 18 396
Increase in Cash Absorbed from Investing Activities 20 670 15 956 18 396

3.1 Change in accounting policy
During the year, the Group and Company changed its accounting policy for returnable containers. Previously, returnable 
containers were accounted for as part of the sales transaction at deposit value and the cost of replacement was written 
off as incurred. Returnable containers are classified as property, plant and equipment and now accounted for at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of the containers 
less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line method. Returnable container deposits received from 
customers are recognised as financial liability as a part of trade and other payables.

Management takes the view that this accounting policy provides more reliable and more relevant information as it more accurately 
reflects the expected use of the containers. This change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively. This had no 
impact on earnings per share. The effect of this change on the Group and Company is summarised below: 

3.2 Correction of prior period balance
As part of the initial investment in the DHN Drinks (Pty) Ltd Joint Venture, the Group recognised a non-current non-interest bearing 
obligation as part of the consideration payable which formed part of the Group’s total contribution to the Joint Venture.  The Group 
would have recognised an impairment loss on the investment if the non-current non-interest bearing obligation had not reduced 
due to an error that was made in the initial computation.  The reduction in the obligation was incorrectly treated as a change in 
accounting estimate in the year ended 30 June 2009, whilst also no impairment loss was recognised on the investment. The 
correction of this error had no impact on equity, taxation, cash flows or earnings and diluted earnings per share. The effect of this 
correction on Group and Company is reflected below: 

30 Jun 2010 30 Jun 2009 30 Jun 2008
N$’000 N$’000 N$’000

Statement of Financial Position as at
Decrease in non-current non-interest bearing obligation - - 30 373
Increase in deferred income - - 30 373
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4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At cost

99 648   112 459 Land and buildings   112 459   99 648 

1 562   4 716 Leasehold land and buildings   6 874   3 720 

527 278   539 788 Plant and machinery   539 788   527 278 

46 232   44 997 Vehicles   44 997   46 232 

35 184   46 106 Furniture and equipment   46 106   35 184 

50 594   71 109 Returnable containers   71 109   50 594 

760 498   819 175   821 333   762 656 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

29 414   30 372 Land and buildings   30 372   29 414 

622    701 Leasehold land and buildings   1 450   1 306 

211 760   241 161 Plant and machinery   241 161   211 760 

26 081   25 834 Vehicles   25 834   26 081 

28 543   30 652 Furniture and equipment   30 652   28 543 

33 847   17 738 Returnable containers   17 738   33 847 

330 267   346 458   347 207   330 951 

Carrying value

70 234   82 087 Land and buildings   82 087   70 234 

940   4 015 Leasehold land and buildings   5 424   2 414 

315 518   298 627 Plant and machinery   298 627   315 518 

20 151   19 163 Vehicles   19 163   20 151 

6 641   15 454 Furniture and equipment   15 454   6 641 

16 747   53 371 Returnable containers   53 371   16 747 

430 231   472 717   474 126   431 705 

Leased Assets 

 Included above are leased vehicles under a number of  

finance lease agreements, details of which are set out below:

Vehicles 

13 104   14 468 At cost   14 468   13 104 

(6 089)  (5 922) Accumulated depreciation  (5 922)  (6 089)

7 015   8 546 Carrying value   8 546   7 015 

 The leased assets are encumbered in terms of finance lease  

agreements (see note 31).

Land and buildings 

 Company land and buildings with a carrying value of 

N$ 55,6 million (2009: N$ 55,7 million), were encumbered to 

secure Company liabilities of N$ 63,3 million (2009: N$ 83,6 

million). The Group’s land and buildings are not encumbered. 

Details of the Group’s land and leasehold land and buildings are 

maintained at the registered office of the Company. Movement of 

property, plant and equipment has been detailed in Annexure B. 

Refer to note 5 in respect of leased assets secured.
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5. SUBORDINATED LOANS

87 663   78 049 Balance at beginning of the year

(9 614)  (3 020) Decrease in current year

78 049   75 029 Balance at end of the year

59 318   48 469 Long term portion 

18 731   26 560 Short term portion 

78 049   75 029 Balance at end of the year 

 On 14 December 2001 the Company entered into a secured 

structured lease and leaseback agreement of N$40 million with 

Commercial Bank of Namibia Limited and NIB Namibia (Pty) 

Limited. The lease and leaseback is structured using a Trust formed 

specifically for this purpose - CBONAB Trust. The Company is 

deemed to have control of the trust in term of IAS 27 “Consolidated 

and separate financial statements” and has therefore consolidated 

the Trust. Interest rates and semi-annual repayments fluctuate 

with the underlying variable interest rate funding instruments, while 

security is provided in the form of a lease right over the leased 

property detailed in note 4.

 On 28 December 2001 the Company entered into a secured 

structured lease and leaseback agreement of N$40 million with 

Standard Bank of Namibia. The lease and leaseback is structured 

using a Trust formed specifically for this purpose - SBN Trust. 

The Company is deemed to have control of the trust in term of 

IAS 27 “Consolidated and separate financial statements” and has 

therefore consolidated the Trust. Interest rates and semi-annual 

repayments fluctuate with the underlying variable interest rate 

funding instruments, while security is provided in the form of a lease 

right over the leased property detailed in note 4.

 Subordinated refundable semi-annual security deposits are 

being placed with the lessors as from 30 June 2002. These 

increase annually and bear interest between 6,80% and 8,74%. 

Withdrawals will be made in ten half-yearly amounts, commencing 

on 30 June 2007, and will increase annually. These deposits have 

been subordinated in favour of the structured loans as set out in 

note 16.
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At cost

659   2 717 Software licences   2 717    659 

659   2 717   2 717    659 

Accumulated amortisation

37 - Software licences - 37

37  -  -     37 

Carrying value

622   2 717 Software licences   2 717    622 

622   2 717   2 717    622 

Movement of intangible assets has been detailed in Annexure B. 

7. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (ANNEXURE C)

988    988 Shares at cost

(160) (160) Loan from subsidiary

828    828 

602    329 Loan to subsidiaries

1 430   1 157 

-  -  Current

1 430   1 157 Non-current

1 430   1 157 Net investment in subsidiaries

 Aggregated losses of subsidiaries, attributable to Namibia 

Breweries South Africa (Pty) Ltd amounted to N$ 36.7million 

(2009: N$ 36.7 million). Income earned by all subsidiaries for the 

year amounted to N$ 0.2 million (2009: N$ 0.5 million).

The loans are interest free and have no fixed repayment terms.

8. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

34 483   99 200 Loan to joint venture   99 200   34 483 

496 974   574 474 Shares at cost   574 474   496 974 

-  -  Equity accounted losses  (120 268)  (41 896)

531 457   673 674 Carrying amount of the investment   553 406   489 561 

Dislcosed as

20 150 - Current - 20 150

511 307   673 674 Non-current   553 406 469 411

531 457   673 674   553 406   489 561 

 During 2010 additional shares were accquired by the existing 

joint venture partners in proportion to the existing ownership 

percentages.

 The loan to the joint venture is unsecured and bears interest at 

JIBAR +2.7% and has no fixed repayment terms. 

Trade receivables from the Joint Venture are disclosed in note 13.
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8. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)

Jointly controlled entity - DHN Drinks (Pty) Ltd

 The Group, through a distribution rights and joint venture

agreement with Heineken and Diageo, has a shareholding in

this jointly controlled entity.  The principal activity of this entity is

the sale of the ventures’ various beverages in the South African

market. This joint venture commenced on 1 May 2008.  The

Group has a 15.5% equity interest in the jointly controlled entity.

 The share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the 

jointly controlled entity at 30 June and for the years then ended, 

which would have been included in the consolidated financial 

statements if proportionally consolidated, would have been as 

follows:

Current assets 112 556   130 448 

Non-current assets 63 973   33 356 

  176 529   163 804 

Current liabilities 174 602   126 713 

Non-current liabilities - 34 395

  174 602   161 108 

Revenue 541 581   444 664 

Total expenses  (650 902)  (496 065)

Loss before income tax  (109 321)  (51 401)

Income tax expense   30 949   15 771 

Net loss  (78 372)  (35 630)

9. LOANS

Loan

12 899   12 899 Namibia Breweries Share Purchase Trust   12 899   12 899 

 The Namibia Breweries Share Purchase Trust was formed to 

finance the purchase of shares in the Company by employees of 

the Ohlthaver & List Group. The loans are secured by a pledge of 

4.22 million shares (2009: 4.22 million) purchased in terms of the 

scheme. In terms of a directors’ resolution, interest chargeable 

in terms of the loan agreements has been waived for the current 

year. The loans to the Namibia Breweries Share Purchase 

Trust are reflected at the lower of the grant price and the value 

equivalent to the closing share price of the pledged shares at 

year end. Refer to note 34. The loan has no repayment terms. 
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10. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Unlisted investments

14    14 L&T Ventures (Proprietary) Limited - at cost 14    14 

14    14 Directors’ valuation of unlisted investments    14    14 

11. DEFERRED TAXATION

11.1 Deferred taxation asset

7 331 - Balance at beginning of the year - 7 331

(7 331) - Movement during the year - (7 331)

(7 331)  - Tax losses - (7 331)

-  -   -  - 

11.2 Deferred taxation liability 

61 172   83 389 Balance at beginning of the year   111 935   94 129 

22 217    52 Movement during the year  (6 828)   17 806 

10 255   17 641 Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes   17 653   10 251 

1 098    4 Debtors allowances    4   1 098 

9 734  ( 24 278) Consumables  (24 278)   9 734 

4 407   6 892 Lease and leaseback rentals  -  - 

24  (535) Other leases (535) 24

(2 159)  (384) Retirement and severance pay benefit obligations (384) (2 159)

(1 142)    712 Intangible asset 712   (1 142)

83 389   83 441   105 107   111 935 

Analysis of deferred taxation liability:

86 829   104 470 Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes   104 616   86 963 

(1 434)  (1 430) Debtors allowances  (1 430)  (1 434)

 33 230   8 952 Consumables   8 952   33 230 

 (28 412)  (21 520) Lease and leaseback rentals  -  - 

 (2 551)  (3 086) Other leases  (3 086)  (2 551)

 (4 485)  (4 869) Retirement and severance pay benefit obligations  (4 869)  (4 485)

212    924 Intangible asset    924    212 

83 389   83 441   105 107   111 935 

Estimated tax losses available for 

-  -  set-off against future taxable income   36 729   36 777 

-  -  Less: Applied to offset any deferred taxation liability  -  - 

 -  -    36 729   36 777 

 -  -  Utilised to create deferred tax asset  -  - 

 -  -  Available to reduce future taxable income   36 729   36 777 
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12. INVENTORIES

44 962   19 898 Raw materials   19 898   44 962 

20 773   16 227 Work in progress   16 227   20 773 

45 752   30 218 Finished products   30 218   45 752 

74 072   57 611 Consumable stores   57 611   74 072 

255    579 Merchandise    579    255 

185 814   124 533   124 533   185 814 

 On 30 June 2010 the impairment to inventories amounted to 
N$ 17.4 million (2009 : N$ 5.6 million). The impairment is included 
in operating expenses in profit or loss and is mainly due to 
redundant spares, changes in packaging design and expired 
finished products.

13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

83 227   81 446 Trade receivables   81 446   83 227 

(5 624)  (5 606) Allowance for impairment losses  (5 606)  (5 624)

178 588   127 403 Trade receivables from Joint Ventures   127 422   178 828 

39 677   33 497 Value added taxation    33 497   39 677

11 912   11 974 Refundable deposits   11 974   11 912

2 033    503 Receivables from other related parties    503   2 033 

15 487   15 736 Other receivables   15 739   15 664

325 300   264 953   264 975   325 717 

 Trade receivables is shown net of  impairment of N$ 5.6 million 
(2009: N$ 5.6 million). The impairment is included in operating 
expenses in profit or loss.

 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 
30-60 days’ terms.

 For terms and conditions relating to related party receivables, refer 
to note 30.

 Trade receivables and Trade receivables from Joint Ventures are 
pledged as security for the medium term loan disclosed in note 16.

Movement in the allowance account for impairment losses:

(9 645)  (5 624) Balance at the beginning of the year  (5 624)  (9 645)

(900) (1 024) Charge for the year  (1 024)  (900)

1 866 777 Utilised    777   1 866 

3 055    265 Unused/recovered amounts reversed    265   3 055 

(5 624)  (5 606) Balance at the end of the year  (5 606)  (5 624)  

Analysed as follows:

 (5 624)  (5 606) Individually impaired trade receivables  (5 606)  (5 624)

 -  -  Collectively impaired trade receivables  -  - 

 (5 624)  (5 606)  (5 606)  (5 624)
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13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

 In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the

Company and Group considers any change in the credit quality

of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted

up to the reporting date.

 The single largest customer is DHN Drinks (Pty) Ltd. Credit terms 

are monitored by management monthly as well overall liquidity of 

DNH Drinks (Pty) Ltd, which is evaluated every 6 months.

 The remainder of concentration of credit risk is limited due to 

the customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly, the 

directors believe that there is no further credit provision required 

in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

 Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually 

impaired trade receivables with a balance of N$ 0.8 million (2009: 

N$ 1.8 million) against which the group has instituted legal action. 

 The impairment recognised represents the difference between 

the carrying amount of these trade receivable and the present 

value of the expected liquidation proceeds. The Group and 

Company does not hold any collateral over these balances.

14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

1 563   29 834 Cash and bank   31 122   2 324 

37 657   114 482 Funds on call   145 901   64 390 

39 220   144 316 Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year   177 023   66 714 

The carrying amount of these assets approximate their fair value. 

15. SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary - Authorised

299 000 000 shares of no par value (2009 - 299 000 000)

Ordinary - Issued

1 024   1 024 206 529 000 shares of no par value (2009 - 206 529 000).   1 024   1 024 

All shares issued are fully paid.

 The 92 471 000 unissued shares of the Company are under the 

control of the Directors in terms of a members’ resolution dated 

4 December 2009.  In terms of the Companies Act, this authority 

expires at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.  Members will 

accordingly be asked to extend this said authority until the Annual 

General Meeting to be held in 2011. The holders of ordinary shares 

are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and 

are entitled to one vote per share on meetings of the Company.
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16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

 This note provides information about the contractual  terms of the

Company and Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

For more information about the exposure to interest rate risk, see

Annexure A.

Non-current liabilities 

Secured 

62 903   28 189 Loan from related parties (Annexure A)  -  - 

4 469   5 444 Finance lease liabilities (Note 4) (Annexure A)   5 444   4 469 

 67 372   33 633   5 444   4 469 

Current liabilities

Secured

- 150 000 Medium term loan (Annexure A) 150 000  - 

20 659 35 107 Loan from related parties (Annexure A)  -  - 

3 033   3 631 Finance lease liabilities (Annexure A) (Note 4)   3 631   3 033 

23 692   188 738   153 631   3 033 

 For terms and conditions relating to related party receivables, 

refer to note 30 and Annexure A.

Loan from related parties

 Refer to note 5 for terms and conditions relating to loans from 

the SBN and CBONAB Trusts.

Refer to note 33.1 regarding fair value.

17. NON-INTEREST BEARING FINANCIAL LIABILITY

Current liabilities

Unsecured

14 929 - Payable owing to related parties - at amortised cost - 14 929

14 929  -  -    14 929 

 During 2008, as part of consideration for the purchase of an 

equity share in DHN Drinks (Pty) Ltd, the Group granted to DHN 

Drinks (Pty) Ltd the rights to distribute the Group’s products 

within the Republic of South Africa for an indefinite period of time. 

The remainder of the consideration payable for the purchase of 

the equity stake in DHN Drinks (Pty) Ltd was paid in July 2009. 

Refer to note 3.2 for the correction of the balance in respect of 

30 June 2008.
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18. DEFERRED INCOME

279 952   255 837 Balance at beginning of year 255 837   279 952 

(13 290)  (17 620) Adjustments (note 3.2)  (17 620)  (13 290)

(10 825)  (10 825) Released to profit or loss  (10 825)  (10 825)

255 837   227 392 Balance at the of the year   227 392   255 837 

245 012   216 567 Non-current   216 567   245 012 

10 825   10 825 Current   10 825   10 825 

 255 837   227 392   227 392   255 837 

 Deferred income represents pre-paid operating lease income 

which will be recognised in profit or loss over a period of 25 years 

on a straight line basis. The lease income is recognised over 25 

years, being the estimated use of the Company’s and Group’s 

distribution rights being used by DHN Drinks (Pty) Ltd. The term 

of use is undefined in the contract.

19. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION

19.1 Retirement fund

 The total value of contributions to the Ohlthaver & List Retirement

Fund during the period amounted to:

5 741   6 152 Members 6 152   5 741 

9 022   9 667 Employer contributions   9 667   9 022 

  14 763   15 819 15 819 14 763

 This is a defined contribution plan and is regulated by the Pension 

Fund Act. The fund is valued at intervals of not more than three 

years. The fund was valued by an independent consulting 

actuary during the course of 2008 and its assets were found to 

exceed its actuarially calculated liabilities.

19.2 Post employment medical aid benefit plan 

6 647   7 705 Balance at the beginning of the year   7 705   6 647 

620    674 Interest cost    674    620 

897 (17) Actuarial loss / (gain) (17) 897

(459) (546) Benefits paid (546) (459)

 7 705   7 816 Non current balance at the end of the year   7 816   7 705 

 The Group provides for post employment medical aid benefits in 

respect of retired employees. The present value of the provision 

at 30 June 2010, as determined by using projected unit credit 

method, was N$ 7.8 million.  
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19. RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION (continued)

19.2 Post employment medical aid benefit plan (continued)

 The principle actuarial assumptions used in determining post

employment medical aid benefit obligations for the Group’s plan

are as follows:

9.25% 9.00% Discount rate 9.00% 9.25%

8.00% 7.50% Healthcare cost inflation 7.50% 8.00%

30 30 Employees    30    30 

Sensitivity of results 

1% increase in medical inflation assumption 

820 786       Accrued liability    786    820 

10.6% 10.1%      % increase 10.1% 10.6%

76 71      Current service + interest cost in next year    71    76 

11.0% 10.5%      % increase 10.5% 11.0%

1% decrease in medical inflation assumption 

(702) (678)       Accrued liability (678) (702)

(9.1%) (8.7%)      % decrease (8.7%) (9.1%)

(65) (61)      Current service + interest cost in next year (61) (65)

(9.6%) (9.0%)      % decrease (9.0%) (9.6%)

19.3 Severance benefit 

- 5 488 Balance at the beginning of the year   5 488  - 

 5 392 - Past service costs - 5 392

  349    541 Current service costs    541 349

  354    603 Interest cost    603    354 

(207) 72 Actuarial (gain) / loss    72  (207)

(400) (199) Benefits paid (199) (400)

  5 488   6 505 Non current balance at the end of the year   6 505   5 488 

  13 193   14 321 Total retirement benefit liability   14 321   13 193 

 The principle actuarial assumptions used in determining  

severance pay obligations for the Group is as follows: 

9.25% 9.00% Discount rate 9.00% 9.25%

7.00% 6.50% Inflation rate 6.50% 7.00%

8.00% 7.50% Salary Increase Rate 7.50% 8.00%

Total expense recognised in profit or loss for: 

1 517 657 - Post employment medical aid benefit plan 657 1 517  

5 888 1 216 - Severance benefit 1 216 5 888

7 405 1 873 1 873 7 405

The total expense is included in operating expenses.
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20.1 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

179 258   87 300 Trade payables   87 300   182 780 

74 257   98 926 Accruals   100 856   76 133 

 9 936   11 438 Returnable containers deposits   11 438   9 936 

 3 562   3 839 Payables to related parties   3 839   3 562 

267 013   201 503   203 433   272 411 

 For terms and conditions and balances owing to relating to related 

parties refer to note 30. Trade payables are non-interest bearing 

and are normally settled on 30-60 day terms. Accruals relates to 

leave, medical, bonus, electricity and management fee accruals.

20.2 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Current

26 510   5 874 Forward foreign exchange contracts   5 874   26 510 

Refer to note 33.2 for details for outstanding forward exchange  

contracts at year end.

Non-current

188 258   188 258 Elective derivative - distribution rights   188 258   188 258 

Refer to notes 33.3 and 33.4 for details.

 During 2008, as part of consideration for the purchase of an 

equity share in DHN Drinks (Pty) Ltd, the Group granted to DHN 

Drinks (Pty) Ltd the rights to distribute the Group’s products 

within the Republic of South Africa for an indefinite period of 

time. The fair value is determined by discounting estimated 

future profits applicable to the Group’s equity share.

 The derivative arises due to the fact that should the Company 

change product mix or remove any products allocated in the 

distribution rights agreement, then a payment is due and payable 

for projected losses to be incurred by the joint ventureres.

21. REVENUE

1 575 499  1 725 022 Sale of goods  1 725 282  1 575 679 

(38 989)  (38 713) Discounts allowed  (38 713)  (38 989)

28 789   43 413 Royalty income   43 413   28 789 

10 825   10 825 Operating leases (refer to note 18)   10 825   10 825 

801    804 Rent received   1 076   1 066 

1 576 925  1 741 351  1 741 883  1 577 370 
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22. OPERATING EXPENSES

Costs by nature

848 797   916 636 Raw material and consumables   916 879   848 921 

143 581   175 023 Employment costs   175 023   143 581 

122 250   116 729 Administration and marketing expenses   118 291   123 692 

120 192   125 835 Railage and transport   125 835   120 192 

22 332   30 539 Repairs and maintenance   30 539   22 332 

51 119   61 460 Depreciation, amortisation and impairments   61 525   51 185 

(8 027)    27 (Impairment reversal)/ impairment of loans  -  - 

1 300 244  1 426 249  1 428 092  1 309 903 

23. OPERATING PROFIT

is arrived at after taking account of

Income

6 616 - Realised gain on foreign exchange transactions - 6 616

Net gains on disposal of property, plant  and equipment:

1 144 -      - vehicles - 1 144

8 027 - Impairment reversal of loans -  - 

1 718 - Impairment reversal of inventories - 1 718

Expenses

72 1 269 Audit fees 1 269 72

805   1 269 - current year 1 269   805   

(733) -  - over provision from prior year - (733)

47 212   60 838 Depreciation    60 903   47 278 

3 907    622 Amortisation - intangible asset    622   3 907 

6 323  6 200 Directors emoluments   6 200   6 323 

8 571   12 880 Management fees   12 880   8 413 

5 193   2 129 Royalties   2 129   3 780 

1 578   2 155 Technical fees   2 155   1 682 

2 514   6 282 Realised loss on foreign exchange transactions   6 282   2 514 

Operating lease payments

2 959   4 053 - land and buildings   4 053   2 959 

Net loss on disposal/scrapping of property, plant  and equipment: 

- 8 - plant and machinery    8  - 

-  11 806 Impairment of inventories   11 806  - 

 900 1 024 Impairment of trade receivables   1 024    900 

 26 510 5 874 Fair value movement on derivative financial instruments   5 874   26 510 

- 27 Impairment of loans and investments  -  - 

24. FINANCE COSTS

118   1 169 Bank interest   1 169   1 276 

- 9 744 Interest bearing loans   9 744   - 

1 135 1 162 Finance leases   1 162   1 135 

11 392 8 502 Holding company, fellow subsidiaries and other related parties - 1 014

12 645   20 577 Total finance costs   12 075   3 425 
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25. FINANCE INCOME

Interest

6 944   5 720 - bank and funds on call   7 772   8 644 

3 008   10 467 - jointly controlled entities   10 467   3 008 

6 831   5 825 -  holding company, fellow subsidiaries and other related parties   101   77  

16 783   22 012 Total finance revenue   18 340   11 729 

26. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The major components of income tax expense in profit or loss

for the years ended 30 June 2010 and 2009 are:

 (61 573)  (56 474) Namibian taxation  (57 640)  (61 492)

 (9 426)  (13 421) South African taxation  (13 421)  (9 426)

 (70 999)  (69 895) Total income tax expense in profit or loss  (71 061)  (70 918)

Comprising 

(39 467)  (56 422) Normal taxation    - current period: Namibian      (64 468)  (43 974)

 110 - Normal taxation    - prior period: Namibian - 287

 (2 094)  ( 13 421) Normal taxation    - current period: South African  (13 421) ( 2 094)

 (22 217) (52) Deferred taxation  - current period: Namibian   6 828 (17 806)

 (7 331) - Deferred taxation  - current period: South African - (7 331)

(70 999)  (69 895) Income tax expense  (71 061)  (70 918)

 No provision for normal taxation has been made for certain 

subsidiaries which have estimated tax losses of N$ 36.7 

million (2009: N$ 36.8 million). No deferred tax asset has been 

recognised for these calculated tax losses as it is uncertain that 

future taxable profits will be available against which the unused 

tax losses can be utilised. The Namibian corporate tax rate 

reduced from 35% to 34% during the current finance period.

%  % Reconciliation of effective tax rate  %  % 

35.0 34.0 Namibian normal tax rate   34.0 35.0

(Reduction)/ increase in rate of taxation 

(2.8) (1.1) - tax exempt income (1.5) (1.6)

(6.3) (10.8) - manufacturing allowances (14.2) (7.3)

0.0 0.0 - disallowable expenditure  11.1  5.1 

(0.6) 0.0 - tax rate change 0.0  (1.7)

25.3 22.1 Effective rate of taxation 29.4 29.5
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   27. BASIC AND HEADLINE EARNINGS PER  

   ORDINARY SHARE 

    Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing  

profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the 

parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding during the year. 

    Calculation of weighted average number of shares for basic 

earnings per share and dilutive earnings per share:

 206 529  206 529  Shares issued at beginning of period  206 529  206 529 

 -   -  Shares issued during the year to ordinary shareholders   -   - 

 206 529  206 529  Weighted average number of shares  206 529  206 529 

    

   Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders  170 623  169 223 

    

   Net loss/ (gain) on the sale of propert, plant and equipment (after tax)  6  (814)

    

   Headline earnings  170 629  168 409 

    

   27.1 Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share (cents)  

  209 820    246 642  Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders    170 623    169 223 

  206 529    206 529  Weighted number of shares in issue (000’s)    206 529    206 529 

 101.6 119.4 Basic earnings per ordinary share (cents)  82.6 81.9

   27.2 Headline earnings per ordinary share (cents)  

   Headline earnings    170 629    168 409 

   Weighted average number of shares in issue (000’s)    206 529    206 529 

   Headline earnings per ordinary share (cents)  82.6 81.5

   28. DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED

   In respect of the 2010 financial year

  -    46 534  - interim (23 cents per share, paid 14 May 2010)    46 534   - 

  -   -  - final (23 cents per share, proposed)   -   - 

    

   In respect of the 2009 financial year

  44 512   -  - interim (22 cents per share, paid 15 May 2009)   -  44 512

  -   44 512  - final (22 cents per share, paid 16 November 2009)   44 512   - 

    

   In respect of the 2008 financial year   

  -   -  - interim (18 cents per share, paid 16 May 2008)    -   - 

  36 419   -  - final (18 cents per share, paid 13 November 2008)   -   36 419 

   80 931    91 046  Dividends to equity holders    91 046    80 931 
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28. DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED (continued)

 The dividends paid and proposed are shown after the elimination

of dividends received from unissued shares held in the Share

Purchase Trust.

Dividend paid per ordinary share (net of share purchase trust)  

17.6 21.6 Final dividend (cents) 21.6 17.6

21.6 22.5 Interim dividend (cents) 22.5 21.6

39.2 44.1 44.1 39.2

Proposed dividend 

 On 30 September 2010 the directors declared a final dividend 

of 23 cents (23 September 2009: 22 cents) per ordinary share. 

  46 535 This dividend will be paid on 19 November 2010.   46 535 

29. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

29.1 Cash generated by operations

280 819   316 537 Profit before income tax   241 684   240 141 

Adjustments for: 

 (10 825)  (10 825) Deferred income  (10 825)  (10 825)

47 212   60 838 Depreciation   60 903   47 278 

  3 907    622 Amortisation    622   3 907 

 (1 144)    8 (Gain) / Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment    8  (1 144)

 (8 027)    27 (Impairment reversed) / impairment of loan granted to subsidiary 

(292) - Reversal of impairment of loan granted to Share Purchase Trust - (  292)

25 794 (20 636) Fair value adjustment for derivative financial instruments  (20 636) 25 794

6 546   1 128 Increase in provisions   1 128 6 546

Equity accounted losses from joint venture   78 372 35 630

(16 783)  (22 012) Finance income  (18 340) (11 729)

12 645   20 577 Finance costs   12 075   3 425 

339 852   346 264 Operating profit before working capital changes   344 991   338 731 

(107 095)   41 190 Working capital changes   38 116  ( 98 596)

( 67 219)   61 281      Inventories   61 281  (67 175)

 (109 962)   60 347     Trade and other receivables   60 742  (77 084)

70 086  (65 509)     Trade and other payables  (68 978)   45 663 

- (14 929)     Non-interest bearing financial liabilities  (14 929)  - 

232 757   387 454 Cash generated by operations   383 107   240 135 

29.2 Dividends paid 

 Dividends paid are reconciled to the amounts disclosed in the 

statement of changes in equity as follows:

(80 931)  (91 046) Ordinary dividends per statement of changes in equity   (91 046)  (80 931)
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29. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

29.3 Income tax paid

 (5 396)   1 361 Balance at beginning of the year  (2 864)  (9 000)

 (41 451)  (69 843) Current tax charge  (77 889)  (45 781)

 (1 361)   7 049 Balance at end of the year   7 049   2 864 

 (48 208)  (61 433) Income tax paid during the year  (73 704)  (51 917)

30. RELATED PARTIES

 The holding company of Namibia Breweries Limited is NBL

Investment Holdings Limited of which the shareholding is held

by Ohlthaver & List Finance and Trading Corporation Limited and

Heineken International B.V. and Diageo plc.

 The Company’s ultimate holding Company is List Trust Company 

(Proprietary) Limited.

 During the year the Company and the Group, in the ordinary 

course of business, entered into various sales, purchases 

and loan transactions with fellow subsidiaries and its holding 

company. 

 The following table provides the total amount of transactions, 

which have been entered into with related parties for the 

relevant financial year.  For information regarding outstanding 

balances at 30 June 2010 and 2009, refer to notes 5, 7, 8, 9, 

13, 16, 17 and 20.1.

30.1 Holding company and fellow subsidiaries 

Current assets 

- 3 Broll and List Property Management (Namibia) (Proprietary) Limited    3  - 

257 - Hangana Seafood (Proprietary) Limited - 257

71    57 Kilimandjaro Investments (Proprietary) Limited    57 71

890    216 Namibia Dairies (Proprietary) Limited    216 890

50    89 Ohlthaver & List Centre (Proprietary) Limited    89 50

80    30 W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a Model Pick ‘n Pay    30 80

25    20 W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a Namib Sun Hotels    20 25

550    7 W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a O & L Properties Division    7 550

5    9 Wernhill Park (Proprietary) Limited    9    5 

 105    72 Windhoek Schlachterei (Proprietary) Limited    72    105 

2 033    503    503   2 033 
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30. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

30.1 Holding company and fellow subsidiaries (continued)

Revenue

Sales during the year

- 69 527 Heineken South Africa  Export Company (Pty) Ltd 69 527 -

874 384 897 884 DHN Drinks (Pty) Ltd   897 884   874 384 

- 13 097 Diageo Great Britain Ltd   13 097  - 

-  99 776 Diageo South Africa (Pty) Ltd   99 776  - 

31 - Broll and List Property Management (Namibia) (Pty) Ltd - 31

 522    40 Kilimandjaro Trading (Pty) Ltd    40 522

  1 102    23 Namibia Dairies (Pty) Ltd    23   1 102 

  375 - Ohlthaver & List Centre (Pty) Ltd - 375

  73 - W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a Kraatz Steel division - 73

  276 - W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a Model Pick ‘n Pay - 276

 119    87 W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a Namib Sun Hotels    87 119

 -  -  W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a O&L Farming Division  -  - 

  1    283 W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a O&L Properties division    283    1 

   31 - Wernhill Park (Pty) Ltd - 31

  261   1 239 Windhoek Schlachterei (Pty) Ltd   1 239 261

 877 175  1 081 956  1 081 956   877 175 
Operating leases

10 825   10 825 DHN Drinks (Pty) Ltd   10 825   10 825 

Rent received

 265    265 W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a Model Pick ‘n Pay    265    265 

888 265  1 093 046 Total Revenue from related parties 1 093 046   888 265 

Current liabilities 

1 - W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a Namib Sun Hotels  -    1 

 50 - W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a Farming Division - 50

14    4 W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a Model Pick ‘n Pay    4    14 

- 32 Namibia Dairies (Pty) Ltd    32  - 

2 379 3 719 Ohlthaver & List Centre (Pty) Ltd   3 719   2 379 

- 84 ICT Holdings (Pty) Ltd    84  - 

1 118 - Dimension Data (Pty) Ltd - 1 118

3 562   3 839   3 839   3 562 

Purchases during the year 

7    81 Namibia Dairies (Pty) Ltd    81    7 

81   1 569 W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a O&L Properties Division   1 569    81 

12 - W.U.M. Properties Limited t/a Model Pick ‘n Pay - 12

100   1 650   1 650    100 

Interest received 

3 008   10 467 DHN Drinks (Pty) Ltd   10 467   3 008 

5 348   3 707 CBONAB and SBN trusts  -  -

8 356   14 174  10 467  3 008
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30. RELATED PARTIES (continued)

30.1 Holding company and fellow subsidiaries (continued)

Key management personnel

For directors emoluments refer to Annexure D.

Interest paid

  2 - Ohlthaver & List Trust Company Limited  -    2 

 9 219   8 502 CBONAB and SBN trusts 

 1 012 - W.U.M. Properties Limited - 1 012

  10 233   8 502 - 1 014

Management and shared service fees paid 

 4 571   9 068 Ohlthaver & List Trust Company Limited   9 068   4 571 

Directors fees

 1 142   325 Ohlthaver & List Trust Company Limited   325   1 142 

30.2 Other related parties 

Management fees paid 

2 000   2 170 Diageo plc   2 170   2 000 

2 000   2 170 Heineken International B.V.   2 170   2 000 

4 000   4 340   4 340   4 000 

Royalties received 

28 789   39 473 DHN Drinks (Pty) Ltd   39 473   28 789 

- 457 Diageo Great Britain Limited    457  - 

 -  3 483 Diageo South Africa (Pty) Ltd   3 483  - 

28 789   43 413   43 413   28 789 

Royalties paid

5 193   2 129 Heineken International B.V.   2 129   5 193 

Directors fees

110 110 Engling, Stritter & Partners 110    110 

 75 175 Diageo plc 175    75 

165 170 Heineken International B.V. 170    165 

350  455  455    350

Legal fees

  517 535 Engling, Stritter & Partners 535   517 

Technical fees 

 1 578   1 492 Heineken International B.V.   1 492   1 578 

Dividends received 

 1 681   1 891 Share purchase trust   1 891   1 681 
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   30.  RELATED PARTIES (continued)

   30.2 Other related parties (continued)

   Subsidiaries

   Details of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Annexure C.

   Joint venture

   Details of the Joint Venture are disclosed in note 8.

   Retirement benefit information and post employment  

   medical aid benefit plan

   Details of the above are disclosed in note 19.

   Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

    The sales to and purchases from related parties are made at 

normal market prices. Outstanding balances at year-end are 

unsecured, on 30-90 day terms, interest free and settlement 

occurs in cash.

    For the year ended 30 June 2010, the Group did not have any 

impairment losses relating to amounts owed by related parties 

(2009: Nil). 

   Directors interest

    At the financial year end the directors directly and indirectly held 

an interest in the Company’s issued shares as follows:

      %   % 

   Ordinary shares    

   Directly  0.06 0.08

     0.06 0.08

    No individual director has a direct shareholding in excess of 1% 

of the issued shares of the Company.

    The Company has not been informed of any material changes in 

these holdings to the date of this report.

   31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

   Authorised  

 10 615    27 924  Contracted for    27 924    10 615 

 16 593    126 076  Not contracted for    126 076    16 593 

  27 208    154 000      154 000    27 208 

    These capital commitments are for the acquisition of new plant 

and machinery.

    This proposed capital expenditure is to be financed by own 

funds, and are expected to be settled in the following year.
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31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND

CONTINGENCIES (continued)

6 120   7 254 Guarantees and suretyship   7 254   6 120 

 The suretyships are issued by First Rand Bank Limited in favour 

of the South African Revenue Services.

Finance lease liabilities

 The Group has entered into finance leases on certain motor 

vehicles. These leases have fixed terms of repayments and 

purchase options. Lease payments are linked to prime variable 

interest rates. Future minimum lease payments under finance 

leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease 

payments are as follows:

Minimum lease payments 

3 904   4 558 Within one year   4 558   3 904 

5 165   6 122 After one year but not more than five years   6 122   5 165 

-   -  More than five years   -  - 

9 069   10 680 Total minimum lease payments   10 680   9 069 

(1 567)  (1 605) Less amounts representing finance charges  (1 605)  (1 567)

7 502   9 075 Principal minimum lease payments   9 075   7 502 

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

 The Group’s principle financial instruments, other than derivatives,

comprise bank loans, loans to and from holding company and

fellow subsidiaries, leases and cash and short term deposits. The

main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance

for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial

assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables,

which arise directly from its operations.

 The Group also enters into derivative transactions such as forward 

exchange contracts. The reason for this is to manage the currency 

risk from the Group’s operations. As a matter of principle, the Group 

does not enter into derivative contracts for speculative purposes.

 The fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts represents the 

estimated amounts that the company would receive, should the 

contracts be terminated at the reporting date, thereby taking into 

account the unrealised gains or losses.

 The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are 

interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and credit 

risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for managing each 

of these risks.
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 32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

32.1 Foreign currency risk

 The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from purchases of raw materials and sales of the Group’s

products in a currency other than the Group’s functional currency.

 The Group appropriately hedges foreign purchases in order to manage its foreign currency exposure. The Group does not 

apply hedge accounting. Forward exchange contracts are entered into in order to manage the Group’s exposure to fluctuations 

in foreign currency exchange rates on foreign transactions. Refer note 33.2 for unutilised forward exchange contracts and 

uncovered foreign trade receivables and payables at year end.

32.2 Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as it borrows and places funds at floating interest rates.The risk is managed by 

maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating borrowings and placings within market expectations. 

 Refer to Annexure A and note 33.3 for further detail on interest rates.

32.3 Credit risk 

 Financial assets which potentially subject the Group to a concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash, funds on call 

and trade receivables. The Group’s cash equivalents and funds on call are placed with high credit quality financial institutions. 

Trade  receivables are stated at their cost less impairment losses. The Group’s single largest customer is DHN Drinks (Pty) 

Ltd. The Group has no other significant concentration of credit risk or significant exposure to any individual customer or 

counterparty.

 The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying 

amount of these instruments.  In respect of possible default by a counterparty, the Group holds collateral as security in the 

amount of N$ Nil (2009: Nil).

 Management monitors adherence to payment terms by the joint venture, DHN Drinks (Pty) Ltd, on a monthly basis.  Financial 

performance and projected cash flows of the joint venture are monitored on a monthly basis to ensure recoverability of all 

amounts.

The granting of credit is made on application and is approved by management. At year-end the company did not consider 

there to be any significant concentration of credit risk or significant exposure to any individual customer or counter party which 

has not been adequately provided for.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of impairment losses, represents the 

Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking to account the value of any collateral obtained.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

32.3 Credit risk (continued)

 Major concentrations of credit risk that arise from the Group’s

receivables in relation to the industry categories and location

of the customers by the percentage of total receivables from

customers are:  %  % 

Trading industry 100.00 100.00

Namibia 24.92 18.43

RSA 62.53 69.19

Other export markets 12.55 12.38

100.00 100.00

 The table below shows the balance of the Group’s 5 major trade 

receivable counterparties at the reporting date:

Counterparty Location 

Heineken South Africa Export Company (Pty) South Africa 5 309 -

Dafin Sales Botswana - 20 257

DHN Drinks (Pty) Ltd  South Africa 127 422 178 828

AD Mendes Angola - 2 941

Diageo South Africa (Pty) Ltd  South Africa 9 113 -

Sentra Namibia Ltd Namibia - 2 202

Coimbra Liquor Wholesaler Namibia 2 452 -

Spar Western Cape Namibia 3 813 2 789

As at 30 June, the ageing of trade receivables is as follows:

32.4 Liquidity risk

 The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash 

flows and ensuring that adequate unutilised borrowing facilities 

are maintained.

 Borrowing capacity is determined by the directors of the Company 

in terms of the Articles of Association. The directors consider a ratio 

of not higher than 50% of shareholders’ equity, as acceptable. 

50% of Shareholder’s Equity   349 592   309 804 

Less total interest bearing borrowings  (159 075)  (7 502)

Unutilised borrowing capacity   190 517   302 302 

 Original terms Changed terms Past due

Neither past due  Neither past due

Total  nor impaired  nor impaired 0 - 60 days 60 - 120 days 120 + days

GROUP  N$’000 N$’000 N$’000 N$’000 N$’000 N$’000

2010 203 262 196 929 - 4 895 357  1 081 

2009 256 431 246 658 - 8 714 1 059 - 

COMPANY

2010 203 243 196 910 - 4 895 357  1 081 

2009 256 431 246 658 - 8 714 1 059 - 

95



Namibia Breweries Limited Annual Report 2010

COMPANY   GROUP 
           Restated Restated

2009 2010 2010 2009
N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

32.5  Capital risk management

 The Company and Group manages its capital to ensure that

entities in the group will be able to continue as a going concern

while maximising the return to stakeholders through the

optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The company’s and

group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

 The capital structure of the company and group consists of 

debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 16, cash 

and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders 

of the parent, comprising issued capital reserves and retained 

earnings.

Gearing ratio

 The company’s and group’s management committee reviews 

the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. Consistent with 

others in the industry, the group monitors capital on the basis of 

the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 

total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash 

and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as 

shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus net debt.

The gearing ratio at the year end was as follows:

91 064   222 371 Debt (i)   159 075   7 502 

(39 220)  (144 316) Less: Cash and cash equivalents  (177 023)  (66 714)

 51 844   78 055 Net debt   (17 948)   (59 212) 

666 204   821 800 Equity (ii)   699 184   619 607 

8% 9% Net debt to equity ratio (3%) (10%)

(i) Debt is defined as long and short-term borrowings.

(ii) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the company.

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

33.1 Fair values

 The fair value of all financial instruments are substantially identical

to the carrying amounts reflected in the statement of financial

position with the exception of the following, which have the

following fair values:

Financial assets

Subordinated loans (note 5)

 40 609   32 513 - SBN Trust

 37 559   30 071 - CBON Trust
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COMPANY   GROUP 
           Restated Restated

2009 2010 2010 2009
N$ 000’s N$ 000’s         Notes N$ 000’s N$ 000’s

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

33.1 Fair values (continued)

Financial liabilities

Interest bearing loans and liabilities (note 16)

- Loan from related parties

46 913   32 346 - SBN Trust

 43 812   30 167 - CBON Trust

 Interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows are based 

on the yield curve for Namibian Prime overdraft rates.

33.2 Hedging activities and foreign currency risk

 Forward exchange contracts are entered into with banks but are not designated as hedges for specific purchases. If contract rates are 

more favourable than the spot rate, on the date of payment of foreign creditors, they will be used. The maturity date represents the date 

when the contract must be exercised if it is not exercised before this date. The following table summarises by major currency the unutilised 

forward exchange contracts and amounts to be paid/ received in foreign currency, for the Group and Company:

Maturity date Foreign amount  Average rate   Namibian Dollar amount 
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
‘000 ‘000 N$ ‘000 N$ ‘000

Forward exchange contracts:

Sold:

Euro 1 - 12 months  -    -     -    -     -    -   

Bought:

Euro 1 - 12 months 2 750 18 050  11.69  12.72 32 153 229 523 

These contracts will be utilised during the next twelve months.

Foreign amount  Average rate   Namibian Dollar amount 
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
‘000 ‘000 N$ ‘000 N$ ‘000

Foreign trade receivables: 

Botswana Pula - 16 904 - 1.20 - 20 207

US Dollars 588 664  7.63 7.88 4 484 5 234

Euro 361 11  9.32 11.50 3 365 125 

British Sterling - 6 - 12.88 - 75

7 849 25 641 

Foreign trade payables:

US Dollars - 99 - 7.88 - 784

Euro 398 509  9.32 11.50 3 708 5 856

3 708 6 640 
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COMPANY   GROUP 
           Restated Restated

2009 2010 2010 2009
N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

33.2 Hedging activities and foreign currency risk (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

 The Group is primarily exposed to the currency of the European

Central Bank (Euro) and secondly to currency of the United

States of America (US Dollar).

 The Namibian Dollar is linked to the South African Rand on a 

one to one basis as documented in the Common Monetary Area 

agreement. Accordingly the Group has no currency exposure for 

balances denominated in South African Rand.

 The following table details the company’s sensitivity to a 10% 

increase and decrease in the Namibia Dollar (NAD) against the 

relevant foreign currencies.  10% is the sensitivity rate used when 

reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management 

personnel an represents management’s assessment of the 

reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

 Below, a positive number indicates an increase in profit, a 

negative number indicates a decrease in profit based on the 

Namibia Dollar strengthening 10% against the relevant currency. 

For a 10% weakening of the Namibia Dollar against the relevant 

currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the 

profit and other equity.

Effect on profit before taxation

23 525   3 250 Euro   3 250   23 525 

2 020 - Pula - 2 020

(444) (448) US Dollars (448) (444)

25 101   2 802   2 802   25 101 

-  -  Effect on equity  -  - 
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 Effective interest rate 1 year 2 years 3-5 years 5 years + Total

N$ ‘000 N$ ‘000 N$ ‘000 N$ ‘000 N$ ‘000

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

 33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

 33.3 Maturity profile

 The following tables detail the Group and Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and assets.  The tables have

been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows based on the earliest date on which the Group and Company can be required/

anticipate to incur an outflow/inflow.  The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

2010 - Group 

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 6.75% 177 023  -  -   - 177 023

Loans 0.00%  -  -   - 12 899 12 899

Loans to joint venture JIBAR +2.7% - 99 200 - - 99 200

Trade and other receivables 0.00% 231 478  -  -   - 231 478

Available-for-sale 0.00%  -  -   - 14 14

408 501 99 200 - 12 913 520 614

Financial liabilities 

Interest-bearing liabilities Ref. Anex. A 154 558 3 635 2 487 - 160 680

Trade and other payables 0.00% 203 433  -  -   - 203 433

Derivative financial instruments 0.00% 5 874  -  -    188 258 194 132

363 865 3 635 2 487 188 258 558 245

2009 - Group

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 6.30% 66,714  -  -   - 66 714

Loans 0.00%  -  -   - 12 899 12 899

Loans to joint venture JIBAR +2.7%   20 150   16 640  -  -  36 790

Trade and other receivables 0.00% 286 040  -  -   - 286 040

Available-for-sale 0.00%  -  -   - 14 14

372 904 16 640 - 12 913 402 457

Financial liabilities 

Interest-bearing liabilities Ref. Anex. A 3 903 2 808 2 358 - 9 069

Non-interest-bearing liabilities 0.00% 14 929  -  -   - 14 929

Derivative financial instruments 0.00% 26 510  -  -   188 258 214 768

Trade and other payables 0.00% 272 411  -  -    - 272 411

317 753 2 808 2 358 188 258 511 177
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 Effective interest rate 1 year 2 years 3-5 years 5 years + Total

N$ ‘000 N$ ‘000 N$ ‘000 N$ ‘000 N$ ‘000

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

 33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

 33.3 Maturity profile (continued)

2010 - Company 

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 6.75% 144 316  -  -   - 144 316

Loans 0.00%  -  -   - 12 899 12 899

Loans to joint venture JIBAR +2.7% - 99 200 - - 99 200

Subordinated loans 6.8%-8.74% 36 829 27 622  -  -  64 451

Trade and other receivables 0.00% 231 456  -  -   - 231 456

Available-for-sale 0.00%  -  -   - 14 14

412 601 126 822 - 12 913 552 336

Financial liabilities 

Interest-bearing liabilities Ref. Anex. A 195 603 33 365 2 487 - 231 455

Derivative financial instruments 0.00%   5 874  -  -    188 258 194 132

Trade and other payables 0.00% 201 504  -  -   - 201 504

402 981 33 365 2 487 188 258 627 091

2009 - Company

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 6.30% 39 220  -  -   - 39 220

Loans 0.00%  -  -   - 12 899 12 899

Loans to joint venture JIBAR+2.7%   20 150   16 640  -  -  36 790

Subordinated loans 6.8%-8.74% 27 322 29 600 29 007 - 85 929

Trade and other receivables 0.00% 285 623  -  -   - 285 623

Available-for-sale 0.00%  -  -   - 14 14

372 315 46 240 29 007 12 913 460 475

Financial liabilities 

Interest-bearing liabilities Ref. Anex. A 31 225 32 408 31 365 - 94 998

Non-interest-bearing liabilities 0.00% 14 929  -  -   -   14 929 

Derivative financial instruments 0.00%   26 510  -  -    188 258   214 768 

Trade and other payables 0.00% 267 013  -  -   - 267 013

339 677 32 408 31 365  188 258 591 708

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Refer to Annexure A.

100



Namibia Breweries Limited Annual Report 2010

 COMPANY    GROUP 
           Restated  Restated
 2009 2010  2010 2009
 N$ 000’s N$ 000’s          N$ 000’s N$ 000’s

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

   33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

    33.4 Carrying value of financial instruments on the  

statements of financial position

   Financial assets  

       Loans and receivables       

 78 049    75 029  - Subordinated loans (note 5)          

 602    329  - Loans to subsidiaries (note 7)      

      12 899    12 899  - Loans (note 9)  12 899 12 899   

     34 483    99 200  - Loans to joint venture (note 8)  99 200 34 483   

     285 623    231 456  - Trade and other receivables (note 13)  231 478 286 040   

    39 220    144 316  - Cash and cash equivalents (note 14)  177 023 66 714   

   450 876    563 229    520 600 400 136   

        Available-for-sale financial assets        

 14     14  - Available-for-sale investments (note 10)  14     14 

   Financial liabilities  

    Derivative instruments at fair value through profit or loss    

 26 510    5 874 - Forward foreign exchange contracts (note 20.2)  5 874 26 510 

 188 258    188 258  - Elective derivative - distribution rights (note 20.2)  188 258    188 258 

 214 768    194 132    194 132    214 768 

    Amortised cost

 267 013 201 504 - Trade and other payables (note 20.1)  203 433 272 411

 91 064 222 371 - Interest bearing loans and borrowings (note 16)  159 075 7 502

 14 929  -  - Non-interest bearing financial liability (note 17)   - 14 929

 373 006 423 875   362 508 294 842

    Fair values of financial instruments that are not the same as the 

carrying amounts are detailed in note 33.1.

   34. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

    Share options are granted to senior management based on 

the year’s service to the company and the employment grade. 

The share trust is not active as the last shares were granted 

in 2000. The Group has elected the exemption under IFRS 1  

Appendix D, does not apply IFRS 2 on share based payments for 

equity instruments that were granted on or before 7 November 

2002. List Trust Company (Proprietary) Limited, the ultimate 

holding company, manages and consolidates the trust in their 

financial statements. The loan to the trust is disclosed in note 9.
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Beer Softs Other Total
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Restated Restated

N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

35. OPERATING SEGMENTS

Business segmentation

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into three operating divisions - beer, soft drinks and other products.

Segment information about these divisions is presented below:

Segment revenue   1 631 436   1 427 243    84 117   140 396   26 329   9 731  1 741 882  1 577 370 

Segment expenses  (1 327 033)  (1 168 769)  (82 427)  (138 365)  (18 631)  (2 769)  (1 428 091)  (1 309 903)

Segment results    304 403   258 474   1 690   2 031   7 698   6 962   313 791   267 467 

Unallocated corporate expenses  -  - 

Operating profit    313 791   267 467 

Finance costs   (12 074)  (3 425)

Finance income    18 340   11 729 

Equity loss from Joint Venture  (78 372)  (35 630)

Profit before taxation    241 685   240 141 

Taxation   (71 062)  (70 918)

Profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders    170 623   169 223 

 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

 Segment assets 

 Assets   868 713   839 548   32 875   89 576   9 107   9 285   910 695   938 409 

 Unallocated corporate assets   698 998   574 637 

 Consolidated total assets   1 609 693  1 513 046 

 Segment liabilities 

 Liabilities    385 640   222 202   7 950   18 661   3 975   2 333   397 565   243 196 

 Unallocated corporate liabilities   512 944   650 243 

 Consolidated total liabilities    910 509   893 439 

OTHER INFORMATION 

Capital expenditure 

- Property, plant and equipment   97 431   109 546 - 16 060   6 805   1 108   104 236   126 714 

- Intangible asset - 659 -  -   2 716 - 2 716    659 

Depreciation   59 075 41 677   1 218   5 239    609    361   60 903   47 276 

Amortisation    622 3 301 - 567 - 39    622   3 907 
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Restated
2010 2009

N$ 000’s N$ 000’s

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements (continued)

35. OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

Geographical segmentation

The Group’s operations are located in Namibia. The Group’s products are either sold on the local

market or are exported to other African countries. Exports to Europe take place on a small scale.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s sales by geographical market:

REVENUE  

- Local   765 029   682 228 

- Export   976 854   895 142 

Total segment revenue  1 741 883  1 577 370 

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets, and additions to property, 

plant and equipment, analysed by geographical area in which the assets are located:  

 CARRYING AMOUNT OF SEGMENT ASSETS 

- Local  1 470 585  1 304 672 

- Export  139 106  208 377 

Total segment assets  1 609 691  1 513 049 

 ADDITIONS TO PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

- Local   104 236   126 713 

- Export  -  - 

Total additions   104 236   126 713 

 ADDITIONS TO INTANGIBLE ASSET 

- Local   2 717    659 

- Export  -  - 

Total additions   2 717    659 
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Effective interest Rate Company Group 
2010 2009 Maturity 2010 2009 2010 2009

% % date N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s

PREFERENCE SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised

1 000 000 Variable rate redeemable preference  

shares of N$0.50 each    500    500    500    500 

LOANS FROM RELATED PARTIES

Fixed rate instruments

-SBN Trust 13.54 13.54 31/12/2011   32 861   42 996 

-CBONAB Trust 11.61 11.61 31/12/2011   30 435   40 566 

Less:  Current portion included in

          short-term interest-bearing borrowings  (35 107)  (20 659)  -  - 

Long-term portion of loans from related parties   28 189   62 903  -  - 

MEDIUM TERM LOAN

Variable rate instruments

-FirstRand Bank Limited repayable in 6 equal

instalments of R25,000,000 comencing in

November 2010.  JIBAR + 2.7% 03/05/2011   150 000 - 150 000  - 

Less:  Current portion included in

          short-term interest-bearing borrowings  (150 000) - (150 000)  - 

Long-term portion of medium term loans   -  -   -  - 

FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES

Variable rate instruments

-Repayable in monthly instalments of N$416,000

(2009: N$394,000) 11.25 12.00   9 075   7 502   9 075   7 502 

Less:  Current portion included in

          short-term interest-bearing borrowings  (3 631)  (3 033)  (3 631)  (3 033)

Long-term portion of finance lease liabilities    5 444   4 469   5 444   4 469 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS   33 633   67 372   5 444   4 469

Annexure A - Secured interest-bearing loans and borrowings
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Company Group 
2010 2009 2010 2009

N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s

ANALYSIS OF REPAYMENTS INCLUDING INTEREST

Repayable within:

year 1   195 603   31 225   154 558   3 903 

year 2   33 365   32 408   3 635   2 808 

year 3   1 859   30 758   1 859   1 751 

year 4    542    607    542    607 

Repayable thereafter    86 - 86  - 

  231 455   94 998   160 680   9 069 

ANALYSIS BY CURRENCY

South Africa Rands   150 000 - 150 000  - 

Namibia Dollars   81 455   94 998 10 680   9 069 

INTEREST RATE SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

 The sensitivity analyses have been determined based on the exposure 

to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the reporting date. For 

variable rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of 

liability outstanding at the reporting date was outstanding for the whole 

year. A 100 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s 

assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher or lower and all other 

variables were held constant:

Interest received: 

- profit before tax for the year would (decrease)/increase by: 2 689 1 102 3 042 1 309 

- other equity reserves would decrease/increase by:  -  -   -  - 

Interest paid

- profit before tax for the year would decrease/ (increase) by: (1 364) (227) (1 364) (227)

- other equity reserves would decrease/ increase by:  -  -   -  -

Annexure A - Secured interest-bearing loans and borrowings (continued)
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Leasehold
Land and  land and  Plant and Furniture and Returnable 
buildings buildings Machinery Vehicles equipment containers Total
N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s

GROUP

2010

Cost

Balance at beginning of the year - restated  99 648   3 720   527 278   46 232   35 184   50 594   762 656 

Additions   5 917    707   26 394   7 073   7 878   56 267   104 236 

Disposals  -  -   (1 421)  (8 308) (78) -  (9 807)

Breakages and write-offs  -  -   -  -  - (35 752)  (35 752)

Movements-transfers   6 894   2 447  (12 463) - 3 122 -  - 

Balance at end of the year   112 459   6 874   539 788   44 997   46 106   71 109   821 333 

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at beginning of the year - restated  29 414   1 306   211 760   26 081   28 543   33 847   330 951 

Depreciation charges    173    144   31 598   7 162   2 183   19 643   60 903 

Accumulated depreciation on disposals  -  -   (1 412)  (7 409) (74) -  (8 895)

Breakages and write-offs  -  -   -  -  - (35 752)  (35 752)

Movements-transfers    785 - (785)  -  -  -  - 

Balance at end of the year   30 372   1 450   241 161   25 834   30 652   17 738   347 207 

Carrying value at end of the year  82 087   5 424   298 627   19 163   15 454   53 371   474 126 

2009

Cost

Balance at beginning of the year - restated  95 674   3 720   452 061   48 771   37 525   43 743   681 494 

Additions - restated   3 977 - 92 516   11 379   1 220   17 621   126 713 

Disposals (3) - (20 260)  (13 918)  (3 715) - (37 896)

Breakages and write-offs -  -  -  -  - (10 770) (10 770)

Movements-transfers -  -   2 961 - 154 - 3 115

Balance at end of the year - restated  99 648   3 720   527 278   46 232   35 184   50 594   762 656 

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at beginning of the year - restated   29 291   1 226   203 007   31 012   29 406   33 473   327 415 

Depreciation charges - restated    123    80   26 424   6 725   2 782   11 144   47 278 

Accumulated depreciation on disposals  -  -   (20 786)  (11 656)  (3 645) - (36 087)

Breakages and write-offs  -  -   -  -  - (10 770) (10 770)

Movements-transfers  -  -    3 115  -  -   -   3 115 

Balance at end of the year - restated  29 414   1 306   211 760   26 081   28 543   33 847   330 951 

Carrying value at end of the year - restated   70 234   2 414   315 518   20 151   6 641   16 747   431 705 

Carrying value at 1 July 2008   66 383  2 494   249 054   17 759   8 119   10 270   354 079 

Annexure B - Property, Plant and Equipment
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Leasehold
Land and  land and  Plant and Furniture and Returnable 
buildings buildings Machinery Vehicles equipment containers Total
N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s

COMPANY 

2010 

Cost 

Balance at beginning of the year - restated  99 648   1 562   527 278   46 232   35 184   50 594   760 498 

Additions   5 917    707   26 394   7 073   7 878   56 267   104 236 

Disposals  -  -   (1 421)  (8 308) (78) -  (9 807)

Breakages and write-offs  -  -   -  -  - (35 752)  (35 752)

Movements-transfers   6 894   2 447  (12 463) - 3 122 -  - 

Balance at end of the year   112 459   4 716   539 788   44 997   46 106   71 109   819 175 

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance at beginning of the year - restated   29 414    622   211 760   26 081   28 543   33 847   330 267 

Depreciation charges    173    79   31 598   7 162   2 183   19 643   60 838 

Accumulated depreciation on disposals  -  -   (1 412)  (7 409) (74) -  (8 895)

Breakages and write-offs  -  -   -  -  - (35 752)  (35 752)

Movements-transfers    785 - (785)  -  -  -  - 

Balance at end of the year   30 372    701   241 161   25 834   30 652   17 738   346 458 

Carrying value at end of the year  82 087   4 015   298 627   19 163   15 454   53 371   472 717 

2009 

Cost 

Balance at beginning of the year - restated   95 674   1 562   452 061   48 771   37 525   43 743   679 336 

Additions - restated   3 977 - 92 516   11 379   1 220   17 621   126 713 

Disposals (3) - (20 260)  (13 918)  (3 715) - (37 896)

Breakages and write-offs -  -  -  -  - (10 770) (10 770)

Movements-transfers -  -   2 961 - 154   3 115 

Balance at end of the year - restated   99 648   1 562   527 278   46 232   35 184   50 594   760 498 

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance at beginning of the year -restated   29 291    608   203 007   31 012   29 406   33 473   326 797 

Depreciation charges - restated    123    14   26 424   6 725   2 782   11 144   47 212 

Accumulated depreciation on disposals  -  -   (20 786)  (11 656)  (3 645) - (36 087)

Breakages and write-offs  -  -   -  -  - (10 770) (10 770)

Movements-transfers  -  -    3 115  -  -   -   3 115 

Balance at end of the year - restated   29 414    622   211 760   26 081   28 543   33 847   330 267 

Carrying value at end of the year   70 234    940   315 518   20 151   6 641   16 747   430 231 

Carrying value at 1 July 2008   66 383    954   249 054   17 759   8 119   10 270   352 539

GROUP & COMPANY The carrying amount of motor vehicles held under finance leases at 30 June 2010 was  

N$ 8,546,000 (2009 : N$ 7,015,000).  Additions during the year include N$ 5,640,000 (2009 : 

N$ 4,995,000) of motor vehicles held under finance leases.

Annexure B - Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
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33.3%  25%  33.3% 
Externally purchased Information system and Externally purchased

software licences Total business re-engineering software licences Total
2010 2010 2009 2009 2009

N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s

GROUP 

Cost

Balance at beginning of the year  659  659  26 628 - 26 628

Disposals ( 659) (659) (26 628) - (26 628)

Additions 2 717 2 717 - 659  659 

Balance at end of the year 2 717 2 717 - 659  659 

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at beginning of the year  37  37 22 758 - 22 758

Disposals (659) (659) (26 628) - (26 628)

Amortisation charges  622  622 3 870  37 3 907 

Balance at end of the year  -  -   -    37    37 

Carrying value at end of the year 2 717 2 717 - 622  622 

COMPANY

Cost

Balance at beginning of the year  659  659 26 628 - 26 628

Disposals (659) (659)  (26 628) - (26 628)

Additions 2 717 2 717 - 659  659 

Balance at end of the year 2 717 2 717 - 659  659 

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at beginning of the year  37  37  22 758 - 22758

Disposals (659) (659) (26 628) - (26 628)

Amortisation charges  622  622 3 870  37 3 907 

Balance at end of the year  -  -   -    37    37 

Carrying value at end of the year 2 717 2 717 - 622  622 

Amortisation periods  are reviewed at the end of each financial year. If the expected useful life of the asset differs from previous estimates, the 

amortisation period shall be changed accordingly. The amortisation charge is recognised in the operating expenses in profit or loss.

Annexure B - Intangible Assets
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Issued Effective  Interest of Holding Company 
Capital Holding Shares Indebtedness 

Country of 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Subsidiary Company Incorporation N$ 000’s % % N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s N$ 000’s

Annexure C - Interest in Subsidiaries

BEVERAGES 

Hansa Brauerei (Proprietary) Limited Namibia 160 100 100 160 160 (160) (160)

Namibia Breweries 

South Africa (Proprietary) Limited South Africa - 100 100  -  -    37 699   37 672 

PROPERTY 

Namundjebo Northgate Properties 

(Proprietary) Limited Namibia - 100 100    828    828    329    602 

Northgate Exports (Proprietary) Limited Namibia - 100 100  -  -   -  - 

Accumulated loan impairment  (37 699)  (37 672)

   988    988    169    442 

Trading activities of Namibia Breweries South Africa (Proprietary) Limited substantially changed in May 2008, which has resulted in the assessment 

that the subsidiary might not be able to pay back borrowed monies. The loan impairment / reversal is included in operating expenses.
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2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2010 2009
 N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s   N$ 000’s 
Directors Other  Pension/  

fees Salary Bonuses Benefits  Medical Aid   Total   Total 

Executive directors

CD Duffy  -  -   -  -   -  -     814 

J Fitzgerald - 1 243 267 - - 1 507 -

D van Jaarsveld - 572    935    892    200   2 599   1 475 

B Kidner - 1 119    774    399  289   2 581   2 462 

Non-executive directors 

BHW Masche    80  -  -   -  -     80    767 

CL List    80  -  -   -  -     80    80 

E Ender    80  -  -   -  -     80    80 

G Mahinda    65  -  -   -  -     65  - 

HB Gerdes    110  -  -   -  -     110    110 

JJ Campbell    10  -  -   -  -     10  - 

NB Blazquez    100  -  -   -  -     100    75 

P Grüttemeyer    80  -  -   -  -     80    80 

S Thieme    160  -  -   -  -     160    150 

TA de Man    75  -  -   -  -     75    75 

TZM Hijarunguru    85  -  -   -  -     85    65 

Z Mina    95  -  -   -  -     95    90 

Total emoluments   1 020   2 934   1 976   1 291    489   7 710   6 323 

Annexure D - Directors’ Emoluments
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Notice to Shareholders 

Notice is hereby given that the 89th Annual General Meeting 

of shareholders of the Company will be held in the auditorium 

of Namibia Breweries Limited, Namibia Breweries premises, 

Secretaries Iscor Street, Northern Industrial Area, Windhoek 

on Thursday 2 December 2010 at 08h30 for the following 

purposes: 

1. To receive and consider, and if approved, adopt the

Group Annual Financial Statements and the Report of the

Independent Auditors for the financial year ended 30 June

2010 as submitted, and to confirm all matters and things

undertaken and discharged by the directors on behalf of the

Company.

2. To elect directors in place of Messrs S Thieme, H-B Gerdes, B

Masche and E Ender who retire by rotation in accordance with

the Company’s Articles of Association but, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election.

3. To approve the directors remuneration as set out in the

financial report.

4. To authorise the directors to determine the auditors’

remuneration.

5. To place the unissued 92 471 000 ordinary shares of no par

value of the Company under the control of the directors who

shall be authorised to allot all or any of those shares at their

discretion on such terms and conditions and at such times as

they may deem fit.

6. To confirm the payment of a final dividend of 23.0 cents, which

had been approved by the directors, to the holders of ordinary

shares, registered in the books of the Company at the close of

business on 15 October 2009 and payable on 19 November

2010.

7. To transact such other business as may be transacted at an

Annual General Meeting. A member entitled to attend and

vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies

to attend and vote in his or her stead. A proxy need not also

be a member of the Company. In order to be effective, proxy

forms should be forwarded to reach the registered office of

the Company not less than 48 hours prior to the time for the

holding of the meeting.

By order of the Board

Ohlthaver and List Centre (Proprietary) Limited

Secretaries

Windhoek

30 October 2010

SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

Annual General Meeting: Thursday, 2 December 2010 at 08:30

Reports Published

Interim Financial Report 24 March 2010 

Abridged Financial Report 30 September 2010 

Annual Financial Statements 01 November 2010

Dividends Declared Paid

Interim 24 March 2010 14 May 2010

Final 30 September 2010 19 November 2010
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for the 89th Annual General Meeting of  NAMIBIA BREWERIES LIMITED

 Registration number 2/1920

The Secretaries

Namibia Breweries Limited

PO Box 16, Windhoek, Namibia

I/We............................................................................................................................................................................(name in full)

of ....................................................................................................................................................................................(address)

being a shareholder of .............................(no. of shares) of the above mentioned Company hereby appoint

(a) ................................................................................... (name); or failing him/her

(b) ................................................................................... (name); or failing him/her

(c) ................................................................................... (name).

or failing him/her, the chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the 89th Annual General Meeting 

of the Company to be held in the auditorium of Namibia Breweries Limited, Namibia Breweries premises, Iscor Street, Northern Industrial 

Area, Windhoek on Thursday 2 December 2010 at 8h30 and at any adjournment thereof, in particular to vote for/against/abstain* the 

resolutions contained in the notice of the meeting.

I/we desire as follows:

Item Number * For Against Abstain

1. Adoption of the annual financial statements

2.  Re-election of retiring directors

S Thieme 

H-B Gerdes

B Masche 

E Ender

3. Approval of director’s remuneration

4. Authorisation of directors to approve auditors’ remuneration

5. General authority to the directors to allot and issue shares

6. Confirmation of the final dividend

*Please indicate by inserting an (‘X’) in the appropriate block either “for/against/abstain”. If no indication is given, the proxy may vote as

he/she deems fit.

Signed at ............................................... this ........................... day of .................................2010.

Signature(s) of shareholder ............................................................................................................

NOTES TO THE PROXY

1.  A member entitled to attend and vote at the aforementioned meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy (who need not be a member of the

company) to attend, speak and, on a poll, to vote in his/her stead.

2.  Shareholders who wish to appoint proxies must lodge their proxy forms at the registered office of the Company not later than 48 hours

prior to the time of the meeting.

3.  In respect of shareholders which are companies, an extract of the relevant resolution of directors must be attached to the proxy form.

Proxy Form

112



Acknowledgements
We would like to thank the Windhoek Observer, Republikein, The Namibian, Allgemeine Zeitung, 
New Era and the Economist for their helpful contribution to the NBL Annual Report 2010. Thank you 
for going out of your way in providing us with great pictures from our country’s history. 



Iscor Street 
Northern Industrial Area, Windhoek, Namibia 
Tel: +264 61 320 4999, Fax: +264 61 263 327 
www.namibiabreweries.com

20 Years of Namibian Independence 90 Years of Exceptional Quality Brewing




